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This book is dedicated to the memory of my two dearest friends,


Wing Commander Kenneth William MacKenzie, DFC, AFC, AE


and


Squadron Leader Noel Henry Corry, DFC, AE,


who have arrived at the big hangar in the sky.






I also dedicate this book to all the Royal Air Force men and women, air crews and ground crews, from Ireland who were killed during World War II, who stood against the threat of Adolf Hitler and his evil regime, and who sacrificed so much to protect the freedom of our great country between September 1939 and August 1945.






‘WE SHALL REMEMBER THEIR SACRIFICE.


WILL THOSE WHO FOLLOW REALISE


HOW GREAT WAS THE COST?’


























REQUIEM FOR A REAR GUNNER






My brief sweet life is over


My eyes no longer see


No summer walks, no Christmas trees


No pretty girls for me


I’ve got the chop, I’ve had it.


My nightly ops are done,


Yet in another hundred years


I’ll only be twenty-one.






This poem was found in the bed of a 460 Squadron Lancaster


rear gunner who did not return from operations.
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Foreword










I was extremely honoured to have been asked by the author of this magnificent book to write the foreword. Man and machine are the essence of Ireland’s aviation heritage. Aviation strides would not have been possible without the men and women who designed, built and tested the aircraft described in this publication, and those who then took to the air for training or for operations.


I was extremely fortunate to have had the experience of commanding Royal Air Force Aldergrove from 2000 to 2002. Part of that experience included participating in many ceremonies that honoured the sacrifices made by those who supported and participated in air operations from the many airfields in Northern Ireland over many decades. That heritage was brought to life in the first book published by this author a few years ago. This second publication sustains the honour of those men and women of Ireland, many of whom gave up their lives. It is a book that completes the story and brings to life many anecdotes that would otherwise have been lost to time.


I salute the author for his dedication and I salute all those who made Ireland’s aviation heritage a reality.






Air Vice-Marshal John Ponsonby, OBE, FRAeS, Retd





Commanding Officer, RAF Aldergrove and Senior RAF Officer Northern Ireland, 2000–02















Introduction










This book is the result of thirty-eight years’ research into the lives of Irishmen who served in the Royal Air Force (RAF) during the dark days of World War II. Their stories have never been told before and they show, in human terms, the dedication, courage and self-sacrifice that these men exhibited when fighting for their country. Many of these young aviators were not old enough to hold a driver’s licence, but they were old enough to fly a Spitfire or Hurricane fighter or a Lancaster or Whitley bomber. I feel that we owe it to each and every one of them, many of whom lost their lives, never to forget them or their sacrifice. I sincerely hope that the historical content of my books will be a record of the men who fought so courageously for our country, and a record for their children, grandchildren and the wider public in years to come. History needs to be remembered – it is essential to remember.


As you progress through the book you will see that some of the chapters are much shorter than others. This is simply because the men detailed were either killed early in the war or there is little surviving information available about them. They are still worth recording, however, as their sacrifice was no less great.


My decision to write this and the other volumes of Irish Aviator Heroes was due to my long-held interest in aviation and particularly in the RAF. I was born in Portadown, County Armagh, on 21 August 1945, six days after the surrender of Japan. Ever since I was a small boy I have had a great interest in aviation. My earliest memory is from when I was five years old, looking up and watching the Dakotas from various airlines flying in to Nutts Corner. Five years later I would travel by bus to Sydenham airport in Belfast, where I would sit for hours watching the brand new RAF and Canadian Pacific Airways Bristol Britannias being rolled out of the Shorts Final Assembly Hangar. After school I would cycle up to Nutts Corner, or as the Americans used to call it ‘Luney Bend’, and sit for hours watching the aircraft take off and land.


In 1958 I joined the Air Training Corps, No. 1136 Squadron (Central Belfast), which at that time was based at the Waverly Hotel. I passed my Basic Proficiency Part ‘D’ examinations (Aircraft Engineering) and on 7 November 1960 obtained my Gliders Licence at RAF Bishops Court. I also applied that year to join the RAF as a Boy Entrant and was offered the position of Radar Engineer. However, at this particular time my mother was very ill and, because of this, I decided not to enlist. Instead I served my engineering apprenticeship at Robert Craig & Sons and in 1969 became an Aircraft Engineer for British Airways, spending thirty-three very happy years with the company. I have been an enthusiastic member of the Ulster Aviation Society for twenty-five years, and played a prominent part in setting up their Aviation Museum at the wartime American Air Force base at Langford Lodge. I also helped with the recovery and restoration of a World War II Grumman Wildcat aircraft, which crashed in Portmore Lough on 24 December 1944. I am a member of the Aircrew Association and the Royal Air Forces Association, two positions that I am very proud of, and a member of the 364th (USA) Fighter Group Association. In 1995 I was invited to go to Langley Air Force Base in America as a VIP by the Supreme Commander of the United States Air Force, General John Michael Loh, where I was presented with a specially framed American flag which had flown over the White House that Christmas.


My love for aviation has endured all my life and so it has given me great satisfaction, and I feel very honoured, to have been able to record the stories in this book, which were so kindly provided by the many people I was able to interview. It should be noted that memory over the years can play tricks and no apology can be forthcoming for any slight errors that may exist in my books. But the importance of documenting the lives and exploits of these men while they were still with us far outweighs the disadvantages of slightly inaccurate memories.












Terms, code names and abbreviations






AA:           Anti-aircraft (Ack-Ack)


Adler Tag: ‘Eagle Day’, 13 August 1940


AE:            Air Efficiency Award, awarded for ten years’ efficient service in the Reserve Air Forces of the United Kingdom, Commonwealth and Empire. Service with the RAF during World   War II between 3 September 1939 and 2 September 1945 was counted as treble time.


AFC:        Air Force Cross, which was awarded to members of the RAF for ‘an act of valour, courage or devotion to duty whilst flying, though not in active operations against the enemy’.


AFS:        Advanced flying school


AFU:       Advanced flying unit


AG:         Air gunner


Amatol:   High explosive aircraft bomb made from a mixture of TNT and ammonium nitrate.


AOC:       Air officer commanding


ARB:        Air Registration Board


A/S:         Anti-submarine


ASDIC:     The primary underwater detection device used by Allied naval convoy escorts throughout the war.


ASV:         Air-to-surface vessel


ATC:         Air Traffic Control


AVM:         Air vice-marshal


Balbo:       A large formation; RAF slang using the name of the Italian general who led many formation flights of Italian Air Force on long-distance voyages, e.g. transatlantic.


BAC:         British Aircraft Corporation


BEA:         British European Airways


BEF:          British Expeditionary Force


BEM:         Medal of the Most Excellent Order of the British Empire, issued to military and civil personnel who have rendered meritorious service in the performance of their duties.


BF:            Designation for Messerschmitt aircraft


BOAC:       British Overseas Airways Corporation


BSAA:        British South American Airways


C-in-C:     Commander-in-Chief


CAA:          Civil Aviation Authority


Capt:         Captain


CBE:          Commander of the Order of the British Empire


CFI:           Chief flying instructor


Chastise:   Code name for the attack on German dams.


Circuits and Bumps: Flights around the aerodrome and landings.


Circus:       Fighter-escorted daylight bombing attacks against short-range or fringe targets in order to bring German fighters to battle and thus maintain a strong enemy fighter force on the particular front concerned.


CGM:         Conspicuous Gallantry Medal


CMG:         The Order of St Michael and St George, awarded to honour people who have done important things for the Commonwealth and Foreign Nations.


CO:           Commanding officer


CofA:        Certificate of airworthiness


CTP:          Chief test pilot


Detachment: A part of a unit, detached from its parent unit to another base of operations in another area and/or of a different type.


D/F:          Direction finding


DFC:         Distinguished Flying Cross, a decoration for gallantry in action against the enemy awarded to officers serving with the RAF.


DFM:         Distinguished Flying Medal, a decoration for gallantry in action against the enemy awarded to non-commissioned officers and other ranks serving with the RAF.


Down moon To head down moon was to head towards the moon.


DSO:      Distinguished Service Order, a decoration for gallantry applicable to all armed services and senior to the gallantry awards applicable to only one service. Established for rewarding individual instances of meritorious or distinguished service in war, this is a military order for officers only, and normally given for service under fire or under conditions equivalent to service in actual combat with the enemy.


E&R CFTS: Elementary and Reserve Civilian Flying Training School


EFTS:        Elementary flying training school


ETPS:        Empire test pilots’ school


FB:            Fighter-Bomber, a designation given to denote the role of an aircraft type.


Feathering: When the rotator stops in flight.


Flight:      A sub-division of a squadron. Normally a squadron would have three flights – A, B and C – consisting of three aeroplanes each and respective crews. During the expansion in the thirties, with squadron establishments increased, squadrons were reorganised on a two-flight basis with six aircraft in each. This underwent some variation during World War II to suit operational needs.


Flt/Lt:      Flight lieutenant


F/Off:      Flying officer


Freya:      German early warning radar


FTS:         Flying training school


GCA:       Ground control approach


George:   Auto-pilot


GM:       George Medal, a decoration awarded to both men and women for acts of great bravery. Intended mainly for civilian personnel, the medal was available to be awarded to military personnel, but only when and if the act of gallantry fell outside the scope of any military award. It ranks next to the Victoria Cross.


GR:          General reconnaissance


Gruppe:   27 aircraft made up from 3 Staffel.


HCU:        Halifax conversion unit


HQ:          Headquarters


H2s:         Ground mapping radar to see a target at night through cloud cover.


Inst:         Royal Belfast Academical Institution


ITW:         Initial training wing


Jim Crow: Operational patrol of the home coastline to intercept any hostile aircraft crossing the coast. Instituted in 1940, these patrols had the additional role of spotting any invasion forces.


LAC:         Leading aircraftman


LDV:         Local Defence Volunteers


LF:            Low-altitude fighter, a designation given to denote a type of aircraft.


LFS:          Lancaster Finishing School


LG:            Landing ground


Luftwaffe: German Air Force


MBE:          Member of the Most Excellent Order of the British Empire


MC:            Military Cross, awarded for ‘an act or acts of exemplary gallantry during active operations against the enemy on land to all members, of any rank in the Armed Forces’.


Mk:            Mark, a term used to define the version of the aircraft type.


MM:           Military Medal


MOD:         Ministry of Defence


NAAFI:       Navy, Army and Air Force Institutes


NCO:          Non-commissioned officer


NF:             Night-fighter, a designation given to denote the role of an aircraft.


Nickel:       The code name applied to propaganda leaflets dropped by air.


NJG:           Nachtjagdgeschwader (German Luftwaffe night-fighter wing)


Noball:       The code name given to launching sites for German V-weapons (V-1 and V-2) – also included storage and manufacturing centres.


OBE:           Officer of the Order of the British Empire


OC:             Officer commanding


On the deck: RAF terminology for very low flying.


Op(s):          Military operation(s)


ORB:            Operational record book, the official operational diary of the unit.


OTU:            Operational training unit


Overlord:     Code name for the Allied landings in Normandy.


PAC:            Parachute and cables


(P)AFU:        (Pilot) Advanced Flying Unit


Pancake landing: A landing made by levelling out a few feet from the ground and then dropping onto it.


P/Off:          Pilot officer


POAF:          Polish Air Force


P&TF:          Practice and test flights


PNB:            Pilot, navigator, bomb aimer


POW:           Prisoner of war


RAAF:          Royal Australian Air Force


RAE:            Royal Aircraft Establishment


RAF:            Royal Air Force


RAFVR:        Royal Air Force Volunteer Reserve


Ramrod:      Code name for operations similar in content to a Circus but with the destruction of the target as the primary aim.


Ranger:       Code name for operations, usually of squadron, wing or group strength, over enemy territory with the primary aim of wearing out the enemy fighter force.


RCAF:          Royal Canadian Air Force


Readiness:   Categorisation of states of preparedness of fighter units. Sections, flights, squadrons, wings, etc., would be held in ‘Immediate Readiness’, which required pilots in aircraft cockpits and trolley accumulators plugged in ready to go, ‘Five Minutes’ Readiness’, an hour’s readiness, etc.


Recce:          Reconnaissance


Refit:           Reorganisation and replenishment to full operational strength.


Rhubarb:     Small-scale fighter or fighter-bomber attacks on ground targets of opportunity.


RN:              Royal Navy


RNVR:          Royal Navy Volunteer Reserve


RNZAF:        Royal New Zealand Air Force


Roadstead:  Code name covering operations to attack, by dive-bombing or at low level, ships either at sea or in harbour, by fighters, or bombers escorted by fighters.


Rodeo:        Code name for purely fighter sweeps over enemy territory.


R/T:            Radio transmitter


SAAF:          South African Air Force


SATCO:       Senior air traffic control officer


Satellite:     An airfield used as an auxiliary field to the main base and administered by that base.


SBAC:         Society of British Aircraft Constructors


Scramble:   Operational term used to call aircraft on readiness into the air to intercept unidentified or hostile aircraft.


Section:      A subdivision of a flight, usually comprising two aircraft and defined by colour, e.g. red section, yellow section, green section etc.


SFTS:          Service flying training school


SNO:           Station navigation officer


Sortie:      Term used to cover each individual aircraft’s operational flight. Thus a squadron putting up eleven Spitfires for a fighter sweep would fly eleven sorties on that one operation.


Standing Patrol: A patrol maintained at set times, or continuously, whether the presence of enemy forces is anticipated or not.


Strafe:         A World War I term, derived from the Germans, for attacking at low level.


Stuka:         Single-engine dive-bomber


Sweep:        An offensive formation flight comprising fighters, or fighters and bombers, to draw out the enemy.


SWO:           Station warrant officer


TAF:            Tactical Air Force


Tallboy:      12,000lb deep penetration bomb, developed by Barnes Wallace.


TCDU:         Transport command development unit


U/S:             Unserviceable


USAAF:        United States Army Air Force


USAF:          United States Air Force


VC:              Victoria Cross, the supreme British decoration for gallantry.


VE:               Victory in Europe


VLR:             Very long range


WAAF:          Women’s Auxiliary Air Force


W/T:            Wireless telegraphy


Würzburg:   German radar used to direct searchlights, flak and night-fighters.


YMCA:         Young Men’s Christian Association


ZZ:               Flying in zero visibility.












Squadron Leader


Dudley Farquhar Allen, GM, BEM, DFC



Royal Air Force number: 968365/111932


Squadron Gunnery Leader/Air Gunner


Nos 109 and 156 Pathfinder Squadrons






Dudley Farquhar Allen was born in Dublin in 1914, and was educated at Skerries, Dublin, Drogheda Grammar School and Rathmines School of Commerce. He was a commercial traveller before joining the Royal Air Force Volunteer Reserve (RAFVR).


This is the story of how one of Ireland’s aviation heroes was awarded three of the nation’s highest awards for bravery.


THE GEORGE MEDAL


On 17 January 1941 Sergeant Dudley Farquhar Allen, an air gunner with No. 109 Squadron, was awarded the George Medal (GM) for saving three of his fellow crew members after their aircraft had crashed. At the time of Allen’s award, No. 109 Squadron was a wireless intelligence development unit whose headquarters was at Boscombe Down. The unit was equipped with the Avro Anson and Vickers Wellingtons, which were engaged during the next two years in the development of radio-countermeasures and also radar aids, notably the blind bombing system known as Oboe.


The citation for Allen’s George Medal reads:






In September, 1940, this airman was the turret gunner of an aircraft which crashed in dense mist. He was dazed by a heavy blow to the head, and his parachute harness was entangled in the seat.


In spite of the fact that the aircraft was on fire he proceeded with great energy and resolution to extricate the unconscious bodies of three of the crew at the risk of his own life. Undeterred by the increasing intensity of the heat and fumes from the burning wreckage, and amid exploding ammunition, he tried to find the pilot, but was unsuccessful. He then removed the unconscious airmen to a safe distance from the flames before assistance arrived.






Although the compartment door was jammed, Sergeant Allen succeeded in forcing his way out of the wreckage, and in spite of the fact that the aircraft was on fire, he returned to the burning aircraft to extricate the unconscious bodies of three of his fellow crew at great risk to himself. There is no doubt it was due to his gallant efforts that the three crew members were not burned with the aircraft. Sadly, they subsequently died from injuries sustained during the crash.


At the time, Sergeant Allen was unaware that his aircraft had crashed in dense mist on the aerodrome.


THE BRITISH EMPIRE MEDAL


On 11 July 1941 Sergeant Allen was awarded the British Empire Medal (BEM) for brave conduct in extinguishing a fire on an aircraft. The citation for the BEM reads:


One evening in April an enemy aircraft dropped incendiary bombs on an aerodrome. One bomb fell into the cockpit of an aircraft on the ground and lodged beneath the seat and under the front of the fuselage petrol tank, in a position which prevented its removal. Sergeant Allen attempted to extinguish the incendiary, but his efforts were unavailing, owing to its position. He therefore climbed into the cockpit, and, although fully aware that the tank was likely to explode at any moment, he applied fire extinguishers against the side of the tank and put soil on the incendiary until it was extinguished. At the time a large number of men were engaged in putting out other incendiaries near the aircraft. There is no doubt that Sergeant Allen, by his initiative and gallant conduct in the face of extremely dangerous conditions, prevented many casualties which would certainly have occurred had the tank exploded.


THE DISTINGUISHED FLYING CROSS


Squadron Leader D. F. Allen was awarded the Distinguished Flying Cross (DFC) on 31 January 1945, while serving as the squadron gunnery officer with No. 156 Pathfinder Squadron. When the Pathfinder Force was formed in August 1942 – with the object of securing more concentrated and effective bombing by marking targets with incendiary bombs and flares dropped from aircraft flown by experienced crews using the latest navigational equipment – No. 156 was one of the four squadrons selected to form the nucleus of the new force. Over a span of thirty-eight months of operations, the squadron’s aircraft dropped 16,017 tons of bombs, and the squadron lost 45 Wellingtons and 117 Lancasters. When the squadron was disbanded in September 1945, its awards comprised 22 Distinguished Service Orders (DSOs) and 1 Bar to the DSO, 296 DFCs and 22 Bars to the DFCs, 5 Conspicuous Gallantry Medals (CGM) (Flying), 110 Distinguished Flying Medals (DFMs) and 1 Bar to the DFM, and 1 BEM.


The citation for Squadron Leader Allen’s DFC reads:


This officer has completed a large number of operational sorties. He is the Squadron Gunnery Leader and has displayed marked zest for operational flying against the enemy. His fine fighting spirit, determination and skill have earned him the respect of all under his leadership.












Right Reverend


Monsignor Group Captain Henry Beauchamp, CBE, MC, VG



Royal Army Chaplain 1916


Royal Air Force Chaplain 1919–1948


Died 26 April 1948






Henry Beauchamp was born in Rosenallis, County Laois, on 9 June 1891. His father, a small merchant-farmer, hailed from the village; his mother, née Mary Delaney, came from Ringstown, Mountrath, a few miles away. The eldest of three children, Beauchamp lost both his parents when he was a few years old.






His guardian, Father John Beauchamp – an uncle who was also parish priest of Borris, County Carlow – arranged with an aunt who lived in Clara, County Offaly, to take charge of the three young children and to bring them up. It was there that the young Harry (as he was known) learned to ride a horse – long before he could read and write. The skill of riding stood him in good stead, as it was to become his mode of transport when he was appointed curate in Portarlington many years later.


Henry received his early education at the Franciscan Brothers’ School at Clara. In those days, it is said, he was delicate; it seems he did not altogether relish the three spoonfuls of cod-liver oil administered to him daily. He continued his studies in Knockbeg College from 1897 to 1903. He read theology in Maynooth from 1903 to 1907 and was ordained priest in St Patrick’s College, Carlow, on 4 April 1908. He had completed his studies for the priesthood the previous year, but the diocese at the time had a surplus of priests and the bishop informed the 1907 class that he would ordain to the priesthood that year only those willing to take a temporary mission outside Ireland.


Henry preferred not to leave Ireland and spent the intervening year as prefect in the Diocesan College at Knockbeg. All his classmates were ordained and, in due course, returned to Ireland. It was Father Beauchamp who would end up being the only one to spend most of his career outside his native land.


His ordination and appointment to Portarlington as curate coincided with the establishment of the golf club, and he was its first honorary secretary. He was elected vice-president the following year. He was captain in 1910 and honorary secretary again in 1914. He ministered in Portarlington until 1916. At that time Britain was in the throes of World War I and a pressing appeal went out to Ireland for chaplains. Father Beauchamp volunteered. He joined the Royal Army Chaplains’ Department in April 1916 and was appointed a temporary chaplain to the forces. Later he was attached to the Argyll and Sutherland Division and was appointed its senior chaplain. He saw service with that division in France and in 1917 was awarded the Military Cross (MC) for bravery under fire.


In 1918, when the RAF received its charter as a separate unit, he made numerous requests to be allowed to join, but his bishop refused and finally ended the correspondence by demanding Father Beauchamp’s immediate return to Ireland. However, instead of Father Beauchamp reporting back, his Lordship Bishop Keating, CMG, CBE, then bishop in ordinary to the army, went over the bishop’s head. After much discussion, permission was obtained for Father Beauchamp to remain with the armed forces. Father Beauchamp transferred from the army to the RAF in 1919 and took up his appointment at RAF Halton in July of that year. In the same year, Lord Trenchard established the No. 1 School of Technical Training at RAF Halton for RAF apprentices, who were known as ‘Trenchard’s Brats’.


On arrival at the mess Father Beauchamp asked a man standing at the door to help him with his luggage. This the man readily did, making several journeys. For his effort, Father Beauchamp gave him five shillings, which he gratefully accepted. That night Father Beauchamp went to the anteroom to be introduced to the commanding officer – the man to whom he had given the five shillings for carrying his cases.


Father Beauchamp was still at RAF Halton when he was appointed principal chaplain in 1929. He became one of the most decorated chaplains in the service, with many distinctions to his credit. In 1940 his rank was Group Captain, and he served with the British Expeditionary Force (BEF) in France, being appointed papal chamberlain and vicar general, and later a domestic prelate. In 1945 he was made a Commander of the Order of the British Empire (CBE). He was the holder of the Cooperative Baptist Fellowship, and was awarded the Belgian Military Cross by the regent of Belgium. The president of the Czechoslovakian Republic conferred on him the Medal of Merit First Class, and he was the recipient of the Military Cross First Class of Poland.


In 1948 Monsignor Beauchamp attended a leadership course at Loyola Hall, on completion of which he came home to Ireland for a holiday. He travelled from Dublin to Carlow to visit old school friends there. But on his arrival he felt unwell and was taken to St Brigid’s Hospital in Carlow. Sadly, he died three days later, on 26 April, of pneumonia, aged sixty-seven. His classmate, the Most Reverend Dr T. Keogh, Bishop of Kildare and Leighlin, was at his bedside. Monsignor Beauchamp was interred in St Mary’s Cemetery, Carlow, and many dignitaries from the RAF came to pay their final respects. With them they brought a wreath on which was written ‘To a priest and friend’. Air Marshal Sir Basil Embry said of him:


Harry Beauchamp, as he was affectionately known, did as other great men do, he built his own memorial. As originator and pioneer-promoter of the Moral Leadership Courses, he gave the Royal Air Force and to Britain the greatest contribution of the age in the field of training everyday men in Christian leadership. His breadth of vision, priestly zeal and unflagging energy devised and brought to fruition the scheme of the Leadership Courses, which time has proved to be of inestimable worth in the training and producing of Leaders. He taught them by wise counsel and noble example how to serve their God, love their country and honour their King.












Corporal


William John Thomas Behan



Royal Air Force number: 534795


HMS Illustrious


Killed in action 10 January 1941






William John Thomas Behan was born in Greystones, County Wicklow in 1916. He was the son of William and Evelyn Behan.






At the time of his death, on 10 January 1941, twenty-five-year-old Corporal Behan was on duty on board the aircraft carrier HMS Illustrious while on Operation Excess, escorting convoys east of Sicily. On the morning of 10 January the convoy was heading for Malta carrying much-needed supplies when the vessels were attacked by Italian Savoia-Marchetti SM 79 bombers. An immediate response by Fulmar aircraft launched from the decks of HMS Illustrious drove them away.


As the bombers retreated in disarray, a fresh formation swooped in; these were not Italian but German Ju 87 and Ju 88 aircraft, determined to sink the aircraft carrier. Illustrious was hit six times by 500-kilogram bombs, which pierced her 4-inch armoured flight deck, went through the hangar deck, destroying the wardroom and sick bay, and badly damaged her steering gear. Although German bombers were continuously attacking her, Illustrious managed to reach the relative safety of the Grand Harbour in Malta for repairs.


Corporal Behan was killed in the course of these attacks on HMS Illustrious. I am unsure if his body was not found, or if he was buried at sea. I would suggest the latter since he is remembered on the Commonwealth Air Forces Memorial in Floriana, Malta.












Squadron Leader


Noel Henry Corry, DFC, AE



Royal Air Force Volunteer Reserve number: 745106


Battle of Britain Pilot No. 25 (F) Squadron


Bomber Command Pilot No. 12 Squadron


Died 27 March 2006






[image: ]







Noel Henry Corry was born in Belfast on 7 December 1918. He was educated initially at the Cliftonville Kindergarten Academy and later, from 1932 to 1936, at Royal Belfast Academical Institution, known locally as Inst. There he enjoyed sport in general and rugby in particular, although he usually played in the less important teams.






His father was keen for him to follow in his footsteps in his firm of chartered accountants, Corry & Henderson, and Noel reluctantly commenced his training towards chartered status. He did not really want to be an accountant, but, being very close to his father, and grateful for his kindness and support, Noel did not wish to go against his wishes.


Very interesting to talk to, Noel had many memories of his wartime years, which remained fresh in his mind. He enjoyed telling these in his quiet, unassuming manner; many appear in the following text.


JOINING THE AIR FORCE


In November 1938 Noel and his two best friends – George Calwell and Sidney Ireland – applied to join the Royal Air Force Volunteer Reserve (RAFVR). They were accepted into No. 24 Elementary & Reserve Flying Training School at Sydenham, near Belfast, in January 1939. Noel’s first air-experience flight was for fifteen minutes in Tiger Moth 6462 on 26 February 1939. His instructor was Flight Lieutenant Charles Lindsay, who guided him through the major part of his basic training and with whom he would meet up again in 1943.1


When war was declared on 3 September 1939 the RAFVR was called up to full-time service and, sadly, the trio of Noel, George and Sidney had to break up. Noel and Sidney continued with their pilot training to obtain their pilot’s wings, but George was unable to go solo in the permitted flying time and had to relinquish his career as a pilot in the Reserve. However, as war had broken out, George approached the RAFVR authorities and was able to remuster as an observer. He went on to obtain his observer’s brevet and had a very successful career as a navigator, including two operational tours with Bomber Command – the first on Wellingtons with No. 9 Squadron operating out of Newmarket, near Cambridge, and the second on Liberators with No. 99 Squadron operating in the Middle East theatre.


The story behind a very special guitar


Noel, Sidney and George, along with Herbie MeGarry, Victor Skillen, Johnny McAdam and their friends, met at Sydenham for training with the RAFVR. Sidney, a keen guitarist, would bring his guitar along to many of their evenings after training had finished, although in those days this was frowned upon by many. When, in mid November 1939, almost three months after the RAFVR had been mobilised, Sidney met up with thirty other members of the RAFVR at the York Street railway station in Belfast, his friends asked, ‘Sidney, where is your guitar?’ He replied, ‘I left it at home.’


There was no way that they were going to board the train without Sidney’s guitar and a good farewell sing-song. So Noel and a few of his friends went to the engine driver and asked if he could wait for thirty minutes until they went and purchased a guitar from Matchetts in Wellington Place. The driver agreed to wait, and off they rushed in a taxi to buy a guitar for Sidney. On their return they thanked the driver, boarded the train for Larne and duly had their sing-song.


Just before they left the train, Sidney asked his friends to sign the back of the guitar. They tried signing it with a pencil and a fountain pen, but these rubbed out too easily. Cecil Smylie pulled out his Boy Scout knife and they all signed it with the spike part of the knife.


Sadly, Sidney was killed on 12 July 1940, when his Spitfire, DW-Q (P9502), crashed during a dogfight practice over Titsey Park, England. His body was brought home to Belfast and is buried in Knockbreda Cemetery.


Noel was granted compassionate leave to attend his best friend’s funeral. Later, on one of the occasions when Noel was home on leave, he went to visit Sidney’s mother, and she gave the guitar to Noel in memory of their friendship. Noel kept the guitar safe until 1998, when he kindly passed it on to me to look after and, if necessary, to find a good home for in the future.


Shortly after this I met the son of Wing Commander Smylie in Bangor and told him the story about the guitar and the Boy Scout knife. He told me to wait a minute and went upstairs. When he returned, he produced his father’s Boy Scout knife, complete with spike – the very one that had signed the guitar in November 1939. He said, ‘That belongs with the guitar,’ and gave it to me.


Shortly before Noel died, he and I decided it would be best if the guitar was in a museum for future safe keeping, so today the guitar and the knife are on display in the Somme Museum in Newtownards. Twenty-one of the RAFVR signed the guitar, ten of whom had been killed by the end of 1943. These ten were:










Sergeant Stanley Allan Fenenmore | Nos 245 & 501 Squadrons | Killed 20 February 1940 | Aged 20


Sergeant Herbert Reginald MeGarry | No. 6 SFTS | Killed 18 May 1940 | Aged 20


Sergeant Noel Raymond Allenby Hawthorne | No. 13 OTU | Killed 28 June 1940 | Aged 23


Sergeant Sidney Ireland | No. 610 Squadron | Killed 12 July 1940 | Aged ?


Sergeant Samuel Sanderson | No. 611 Squadron | Killed 9 August 1940 | Aged ?


Pilot Officer James Maxwell McCausland | No. 82 Squadron | Killed 8 September 1940 | Aged ?


Sergeant Victor Skillen | No. 23 Squadron | Killed 11 March 1941 | Aged 24


Pilot Officer Thomas Andrew McCann | No. 134 Squadron | Killed 27 July 1942 | Aged 23


Flying Officer Victor Stephenson Neill | No. 11 Squadron | Killed 4 May 1943 | Aged 24


Flying Officer Alan George Wood | No. 47 Squadron | Killed 26 November 1943 | Aged 22






The eleven who survived the war were:






Squadron Leader Noel Henry Corry, DFC, AE | Nos 12 & 25 Squadrons


Wing Commander William Winder McConnell, DFC & Bar, AE | Nos 245, 249 & 607 Squadrons


Flight Lieutenant Charles Crotchley Johnston, AE | Nos 157 & 619 Squadrons


Squadron Leader Robert Ronald Wright, DFC, AE | Nos 235 & 248 Squadrons


Wing Commander Kenneth William MacKenzie, DFC, AFC, AE | Nos 43 & 501 Squadrons


Wing Commander John Howard Simpson, DFC, AE | Nos 233 & 500 Squadrons


Flight Lieutenant George Calwell, AE | No. 99 Squadron


Flight Lieutenant Harry J. Geary, AE | Retired from RAF (due to illness)


Flight Lieutenant J. Lockington Lilburn, AE | No. 501 Squadron


Wing Commander Cecil Smylie, DFC (USA), DFC, DFM, AE | Nos 51 & 235 Squadrons


Flight Lieutenant John Frederick Conway, AE | no information available










Noel and George Calwell met up briefly on a few occasions during the first year of the war, fortunately with enough time to enjoy a few beers together. But they would also meet on one very important later occasion in Noel’s life: on 4 December 1943 George officiated as best man at Noel’s wedding in Scotland. An overseas posting had been cancelled at the last minute, just in time for George to ‘get to the church on time’.


Noel had been due to act as best man at George’s wedding some months earlier, but, shortly before the appointed day, Noel was seconded for a brief period to train as a controller for the RAF fighters flown into Eastchurch to act as escort for the main American heavy-bomber force engaged on a special daylight raid into France on the wedding day. This raid was subject to the usual strict secrecy restrictions and it was not possible for Noel to explain why he could not attend the wedding or for a substitute to be used as controller. Noel had to let George down at the last minute without explanation and, to the day he died, just thinking of that occasion – when he had been unable to deal with the situation – made him feel miserable.
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George Calwell on the left and Noel Henry Corry on the right, in 1939.



Initial training and first wartime posting


As he started his training Noel could not have known what the next few years would hold and that he would go on to complete two operational tours, flying many hundreds of times during his RAF service and emerging with an ‘Exceptional’ assessment of his ability as a pilot. Most of his weekends in 1939 were spent at Sydenham. He flew solo for the first time on 24 May 1939 in Tiger Moth 6745, following nine hours of instruction. He finished his elementary training on 2 October 1939 with an ‘Average’ assessment in his logbook from Flight Lieutenant David Sloan, Chief Flying Instructor (CFI) for the unit, having completed the flying element on the 27 August with a CFI test. During this time Noel logged ninety-seven flights. He practised square-bashing (drill with rifles) and attended lectures on aeronautics and Morse code, which were held twice weekly at the headquarters of the RAFVR in the Saxone building in Belfast’s Royal Avenue. Not one to miss these events, Noel did very well in the written examinations held at the completion of his training. He had thoroughly enjoyed the lecture sessions and the mess life, and he would have been the first to admit that being paid by both the RAF and his employers may have been a factor in his pleasure.


Noel had been due to take his intermediate accountancy exams in mid-November 1939, so he breathed a sigh of relief when he was called up for full-time service at the outbreak of the war. Accompanied by a dozen or so other members of the RAFVR (including his pals Sidney Ireland, Herbie MeGarry and Victor Skillen), Noel set out on his first wartime service posting to the Initial Training Wing (ITW) in the Sackville Hotel in Bexhill-on-Sea, Sussex, to commence initial training. Sid, Herbie and Noel made a good team: while the rest of the Ulster contingent were busy listening to instructions from the Station Warrant Officer (SWO) on the high standard of behaviour which would be required on ‘his’ station, the ‘three amigos’ eased their way gently towards the foot of the stairs in readiness for a scamper to stake their claim to a room for the night.2


When the SWO dismissed them, they headed at great speed (and, perhaps, with a little obstruction) up the stairs towards the front of the building, took over a large room with all the ‘mod cons’ (in peacetime it had been a bridal suite) and held it against all comers – not only for that night but for the rest of their eighteen-day stay at the ITW. They quickly learned, as sprog recruits, how to look after number one!


Their training routine started almost immediately, including the norm of square-bashing, aptitude tests, medicals, more medicals and more square-bashing. Also included in this training were films showing the results of various social diseases, which came as quite an eye-opener to the new recruits – little more than schoolboys and freshly arrived from the province. But one of Noel’s abiding memories of the period at Bexhill was the corporal who took them for square-bashing and pre-breakfast PT (physical training) there, whom he remembered as being one of ‘the most sadistic so-and-sos’ he ever had the misfortune to meet.


With his initial training completed, Noel was posted to No. 11 Flying Training School (FTS) at Shawbury, north of Shrewsbury. There, on 2 November, he joined the No. 17 course and started flying on Hawker Hart and Audax biplanes – still with the open cockpit – under Flight Lieutenant Pawson, Officer Commanding (OC) ‘D’ Flight. Sergeant Thomas Lindsay Armstrong was the only other recruit from the Ulster contingent which left Northern Ireland with Noel to be posted to the No. 17 course at Shawbury. The surnames of most of the RAFVR trainees posted to No. 17 course began with the letter C, and the people occupying beds adjacent to Noel’s in the dormitory were Harry Cleminson and Fanny Cartwright (two Englishmen), and Wallace Cunningham (a Scot). The four settled down and got on very well together, both on the ground and in the air.


Wallace Cunningham and Noel were allocated the same flying instructor, Bill Bailey, a very experienced Flight Sergeant, who became a father figure to them – he taught them everything he knew about flying the Hawker variants and they learned to trust him implicitly. The same trust developed between Noel and Wallace (who naturally became ‘Paddy’ and ‘Jock’). They flew dual together whenever possible – e.g. on cross-country flights, taking it in turn to navigate – and solo together in, for example, formation and mock combats. On the ground they practised the rudiments of Morse code together.
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Noel Corry (fourth from right, back row) at Sydenham in June 1939.



THE YEAR 1940


The early part of 1940 saw Noel continuing his training towards the gaining of his wings. This period was fairly unremarkable except for one incident, which he recalled with amusement. On 9 April 1940 he was scheduled for his test and flying assessment by the CFI, in this case one Squadron Leader (later Group Captain) V. H. A. ‘Mac’ McBratney, known as a hard but fair taskmaster who expected the best not only from his pupils but also from himself. A gifted flyer, he was a fellow Ulsterman, who, like Noel, was an old Instonian. Noel turned up at the appointed time, wearing his Instonians scarf (made by his mother) in the way flyers of aircraft with open cockpits in those days did, so that it would flutter out behind in the wind whilst he was flying. He clambered into the cockpit to be met by the bellow of McBratney from behind:






‘Name?’


The reply via the speaking tube: ‘Corry, sur!’


‘Where are you from?’


‘Belfast, sur.’


‘Did you go to Inst?’


‘Yes, sur, I was there the same time as you, sur.’


‘You needn’t think it’s going to make any difference, Corry.’


Not appreciating what the CFI was talking about, Noel replied, ‘What do you mean, sur?’


‘The scarf, man, your bloody Instonian scarf,’ bellowed the CFI.


Interestingly McBratney, the first operational CO of the newly re-formed 120 Coastal Command Squadron, also tells this story in his own account of the war years.






Noel had good results in his wings examination in March 1940, with an average of 83.5 per cent in all subjects (the course average was 77 per cent). Having obtained his wings, he completed his flying training course on the 12 April 1940; his proficiency as a pilot was assessed by Squadron Leader Macerate as ‘Average’. Noel then moved to the Advanced Flying Training School at Shawbury commanded by Squadron Leader ‘Wizzy’ King, from whom the younger pilots were to learn something of the duties that would prepare them for operational flying in squadrons, including flying cross-country flights, formation flying, bombing (at various levels and including dive-bombing), gunnery attacks (air-to-air and air-to-ground) and night flying. On 29 May 1940 Noel completed his training at No. 11 Service Flying Training School; his proficiency as a pilot was assessed by Squadron Leader King as ‘Above the Average’ (perhaps CFI McBratney wanted to stay clear of any criticism when dealing with fellow Ulstermen, and so delegated the assessment). Whilst at Shawbury, Noel logged 140 flights and also received some tuition from an instructor named Reddick, with whom he would meet up some years later. (Also some years later, in 1996, Noel would attend the burial of Group Captain McBratney, who had died in his Australian home and whose ashes were brought back to Northern Ireland for burial with his parents in Magherafelt.)


Towards the end of his flying training, Noel and his pals were due some leave. However, at that time the British Army was being evacuated from Dunkirk and, with invasion threatened, a number of them had been selected to form a Defence Squadron comprising sections made up of an instructor with two senior pupils flying as wingmen. This meant that their Hawker Audax aircraft (with twin Vickers guns firing through the propellers by means of interrupter gear) had to be kept fully armed with full tanks and screened from routine flying training. The selected pilots had to remain on call, and home leave was out of the question. Jock Cunningham and Noel had been selected to fly as wingmen to Bill Bailey; they and a number of their pals had to be satisfied with leave for one night only. It was taken in London, where they visited the Palladium to see the Gang Show and, because it was Forces Night, they took part in a frolic on stage with the chorus girls during the second part of the show, followed by a party afterwards to wet their newly awarded wings in the appropriate manner.


The training course at Shawbury completed, pending posting to an operational training unit (OTU) the young pilots were again given leave, subject to possible recall because of the threat of invasion – indeed some found recall signals awaiting them when they reached home. As it happened, Noel and Jock Cunningham were last to be recalled; they enjoyed a few days of leave before having to report back to Shawbury. They went on leave as Sergeant Pilots and were recalled as Pilot Officers, commissioned with effect from 8 June 1940. On that date both entrained en route to No. 5 (Fighter) OTU at Aston Down, near Stroud in Gloucestershire.


A little self-conscious in their new uniforms, Noel and Jock had just settled down to enjoy the new-found comfort of their first-class compartment, when the door suddenly burst open to admit a scrummage of rough soldiery, more than the number of vacant seats in the compartment. By this time, the flood of men straight from the beaches of Dunkirk had reached the Midlands. The soldiers bursting in on Noel and Jock had suffered the many dive-bombing attacks on the beaches; some of them were still wet through and without jackets and caps. On discovering two young Pilot Officers with shiny new wings with a first-class compartment all to themselves, they wasted no time in settling in and subjecting the two pilots to a fierce blast of withering scorn (mostly concerning a complete absence of RAF fighter protection on the Dunkirk beaches); this might have got quite out of hand, had it not been for the intervention on the pilots’ behalf by an elderly senior army non-commissioned officer in the party of intruders.
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Noel Corry (back row, second from left) at the Shawbury No. 17 course, 1 December 1939. 



A BRIEF wartime HISTORY OF NO. 25 SQUADRON


The squadron’s badge shows ‘on a gauntlet a hawk rising affrontee’. The badge incorporates a previous badge used unofficially by the squadron, the hawk being associated with the squadron’s period at Hawkinge.


The squadron’s motto is ‘Feriens tego’ (‘Striking I defend’).


The squadron was formed at RAF Montrose in Scotland on 25 September 1915 and moved to France in February 1916 as a fighter squadron equipped with FE 2bs. The squadron was given the task of intercepting enemy air raids on their way to England but most of its trade was found over the Western Front. It was during a fight with No. 25 Squadron on 18 June 1916 that Immelmann, the exponent of the Fokker E.1 and the famous ‘Immelmann turn’ was shot down by two pilots from the squadron. The squadron returned to England in January 1920 and was disbanded.


It was re-formed at Hawkinge in April 1920 as a fighter squadron equipped with Sopwith Snipes, being the only operational fighter squadron at this time. At the end of 1922 it went to Constantinople to reinforce the garrison there for police duties. In 1928 the squadron was re-equipped with Siskins and, three years later, Hawker Furies. This allowed the squadron to show off the Furies’ aerobatic capabilities at the Hendon Pageant (1933–35).


At the end of 1938, with all the signs that a war was coming, the squadron became a night-fighter squadron and converted to the Bristol Blenheim Ifs. This type of aircraft was destined to see service with the squadron until January 1943.


By the time war broke out, the squadron had worked up to operational efficiency and had acquired Blenheim IVs equipped with airborne interception radar. In May 1940 it escorted the little ships in and out of Dunkirk and patrolled the Dutch and Belgian coasts by day. The squadron fought with distinction during the Battle of Britain. In May 1940 it received two Westland Whirlwinds for evaluation as night-fighters. In September 1941 it converted to the Bristol Beaufighter If and in July the Boston Havoc MkI.


In October the squadron received the first of its Mosquito NF.Is. With these the squadron embarked on ‘rangers’ (night sweeps over the Continent). In 1944 it was employed principally on interceptor and intruder patrols over the Continent; these continued until the last night of the war. After the war it became a home defence night-fighter squadron based at West Malling.


On reaching Aston Down, the young pilots were given the sad news that Noel’s compatriot Pilot Officer Armstrong, who had been with them on No. 17 course at Shawbury, had been killed in a flying accident on 5 June. He had been posted to No. 5 OTU some days earlier than Noel and Jock. His Blenheim had crashed into a field and caught fire. Armstrong was trapped in the burning aircraft, and a local farmer who went to his aid was also killed when the aircraft’s guns went off. This was almost certainly the first fatality to any member of the No. 17 course.


Noel and Jock quickly discovered that only about half of the aircraft at Aston Down were Spitfires, the other half being Blenheim MkI twin-engined fighters. This meant that half of the pupils who had been trained on single-engined aircraft had to switch to flying the twin-engined fighters. Time was of the essence and no attempt was made to select those most suited to flying the so-called ‘singles’. The course pupils were told to stand in a semicircle in front of the OC of the OTU; with a sweep of his arm, the OC indicated which ‘half’ would fly Spitfires and which ‘half’ would fly Blenheims. Having been ‘chosen’ for the latter, Noel had his first flight at the OTU in Blenheim L1267 on 10 June 1940. On 26 June – twenty-two flights and nineteen flying hours later, and with an assessment of ‘Average’ – he was posted to No. 25 (F) Squadron stationed at Martlesham Heath, near Ipswich.3


When Jock and Noel were posted to Aston Down they found that the pupil pilots there included a small contingent from Finland. As a result of the Russo-German pact made in August 1939, the Russian forces had invaded neighbouring Finland at the end of 1939. It was rumoured that the Finnish pilots were being trained by the RAF to fly obsolescent Gloster Gladiators with the idea that, when they had completed their training, they would return to Finland and take the Gladiators with them, hopefully in time to be of service in their country’s defiant effort to beat off the might of the Russian armed forces attacking the Mannerheim Line. Noel and Jock became quite friendly with the Finns, who had the use of an RAF lorry for personal transport. A few nights before Noel and Jock completed their brief course at Aston Down, the Finns invited them to join them for an evening out in Gloucester. During the course of the evening, the Finns introduced them to the startling properties of a glass of scrumpy – the rough cider made in the West Country of England.


The next morning, Noel and Jock – suffering from terrible hangovers – decided never again to have anything to do with scrumpy, and went searching for their new-found friends to tell them so. It was to no avail, however, as the Finns were not to be found in the mess or anywhere else on the station. All Noel and Jock were told was that the Finns had been posted out at short notice! It looked as though time had run out on Finland’s gallant battle against the overwhelming Russian forces, and that the departure of the Finns had been a consequence of the signing of a treaty between Finland and Moscow in the spring of 1940.


Some years later – after the end of the war, when there were rumours of terrible treatment meted out to the Cossacks forcibly repatriated to Russia from British prisoner-of-war camps – Noel would wonder whether the appropriate authorities in Great Britain had taken the necessary steps to ensure the safe return to Finnish society of the intrepid Finns who had been trained at Aston Down during the first six months of 1940.


Noel’s first flight in a Blenheim with his new squadron came on 27 June, a solo sector reconnaissance. On 30 June he teamed up with Sergeant Bob Berwick, wireless operator/air gunner, also recently posted to No. 25 (F) Squadron and the same age as him.4 Noel’s first brush with the enemy was on 10 July 1940 – the official starting date for the Battle of Britain – on his first operational convoy patrol. Like so many firsts, this one bears a tale worth telling.


10 July 1940


On the official starting date for the Battle of Britain Noel was down at dispersal, sitting in a Blenheim with his eyes shut, familiarising himself with the exact position in the cockpit of all knobs, switches and levers so that he would be able to find these quickly in the pitch dark. He was conscious of the fact that he was now an operational pilot in a Blenheim night-fighter squadron, although he had not, as yet, flown a Blenheim at night. The quiet was shattered by a screech of brakes as a car – driven by Mike Herrick, a Pilot Officer from New Zealand, and carrying other aircrew – drew up alongside. Mike shouted to Noel to get his aircraft started and follow him, while one of the passengers from the car climbed into the turret of Noel’s aircraft to act as gunner. The ground crews had turned out by this time. Mike started up his Blenheim and – with his gunner on board – taxied out and took off without pausing. Noel scrambled after him, but his radio was without the necessary crystals, rendering it useless, so he was unable to contact Mike.


They flew at full throttle and headed out to sea. Noel assumed that a convoy was in trouble and, having checked his fuel tanks were full, had to content himself with staying tucked in behind Mike and awaiting developments. They flew for about half an hour in brilliant sunshine, although there was a heat haze, when suddenly they saw the convoy – just as the convoy saw them and opened fire with everything that it had on the two Blenheims. The convoy had just been under attack from Ju 88 bombers escorted by what looked like Ju 88 Jaeger fighters, which were breaking off the attack and starting for home just as the two Blenheims arrived. Mike Herrick immediately turned towards the departing Ju 88s, followed by Noel, who was unable to locate any ring sight on his aircraft and so could not aim his five Browning machine guns properly.


The Blenheims had a slight height advantage when they arrived on the scene, but this was soon dissipated in their efforts to catch up with the retiring Ju 88s, which soon widened the gap as they dived away and scampered for home. In the absence of his ring sight, and with the range between his aircraft and the Ju 88s increasing rapidly, Noel selected the nearest target and gave it a long burst of fire, waving the nose of the Blenheim ‘about a bit’ – hardly decisive action, but it made him feel better. When the Blenheims returned to patrol the convoy, they were greeted with a fusillade of gunfire from the ships of the navy, both Royal and Merchant, presumably because the gunners assumed they were the enemy coming back for another attack.


Noel was having to learn fast: already on his first op he had become familiar with what was known as ‘friendly fire’. Because of the similarity in appearance of the Ju 88 and the Blenheim MkI fighter – particularly in the head-on (attacking) aspect – it was advisable as soon as possible after arrival on convoy patrol to show the RAF roundels on the side of the Blenheim fuselage to the gunners of the ships. It was also understandable that the gunners on ships – which had not long before come through the Dover–Calais narrows of the English Channel, or were about to enter those narrows – tended to be a bit trigger-happy. The sensible, and safest, thing for the pilots of the Blenheim defensive patrol to do was to orbit well out on the perimeter of the area of sea covered by the convoy.


On his return to Martlesham Heath, Noel found that – unbeknownst to him – the right sight was hinged back against the framework of the nose of his aircraft and, being of the same colour as the framework and moulded to match the shape of the frame, it was virtually invisible to the untutored eye. He had only fired the guns in a Blenheim once before while at the OTU, and on that occasion the ring sight had been in the operative position corresponding with the bead sight. Noel would know for the next time.
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Noel Corry (left) with the Lewis gun and Ken MacKenzie as the pilot of a Hawker Hart in 1939.



A related story: Mike Herrick’s gate guards


New Zealander Mike Herrick was one of six sons. Two others were also in the RAF and two were in the Royal Navy (RN). On 4/5 September 1940, Mike scored the first double for 25 Squadron when he shot down a Dornier 17 and a Heinkel 111. On the same night, Noel got to know him well and greatly respected his abilities – the two became friends. Noel recalled Mike talking about obtaining a ‘gate guard’ for his parents’ ranch in New Zealand, having seen pictures of American houses mounting pairs of Civil War cannon gate guards. Mike was thinking it would be a good idea to obtain some German cannon or machine guns and have them chromed. Noel was also on patrol the night of Mike’s double victory; having landed, the two proceeded to the He 111 crash site, but the wreck was so badly damaged they could not retrieve anything.


Noel gave this account of their visit to the crash site:


Shortly after dawn on 5 September 1940, Pilot Officer Mike Herrick, Flying Officer Bernard ‘Dopey’ Rofe, also of 25 Squadron, and myself set out to find the wreckage of Mike’s first Heinkel. I and Rofe had both been on patrol at the same time as Herrick, but without success – indeed, although Rofe also had the good fortune to intercept and attack an enemy aircraft that night, he had suffered the misfortune during the attack of having his Blenheim hit by ‘friendly’ anti-aircraft fire, and the tail unit of his aircraft was left badly damaged. Having located the wrecked Heinkel, with help from the local constabulary, the three of us approached it with some caution because it was still smouldering in places and they could not tell whether it had been shot down before or after dropping its bombs. We saw no signs of bombs about the wreckage and were rooting about in the main fuselage section hoping to find two MG15 machine guns in good enough condition to meet Mike’s needs, when ‘Dopey’ Rofe let out an agonised cry – he suddenly realised that he was standing ankle deep in very hot ‘potato mashers’, German hand grenades. The three of us departed from the scene at great speed, I with much of the Heinkel’s artificial horizon in my hand! Mike Herrick would have to wait a while longer before getting his German machine guns. The presence of the hand grenades gave us the answer to something which had puzzled Mike after his combat with the Heinkel. An almighty bang in front of his Blenheim had shattered his windscreen and sprayed his eyes with powdered Perspex, temporally blinding him. Apparently the upper (dorsal) gunner in the Heinkel had hand grenades in racks beside him, which he tossed out, having first pulled the firing pin, at any RAF night-fighter closing in from astern. By the time the grenade exploded, the Heinkel would have moved clear, and, hopefully, the attacking night-fighter would have moved into the lethal zone! Needless to say, the presence on board the Heinkel of the hand grenades was reported to HQ No. 11 Group, Fighter Command.


Noel would meet up with a New Zealander, ex-fighter pilot Keith Laurence, at Capel-le-Ferne in the summer of 1997. Keith had also known Mike Herrick and would tell Noel that Mike had, in fact, eventually got his two MG15s for his gate guard.
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Noel Corry in the cockpit of his Blenheim during the Battle of Britain.






Completing his first tour of operations


In the course of his time at 25 Squadron, Noel recalled, two experienced Flying Officers, Mike Lambert and Miles Miley, were sent down to collect the first two of the new Bristol Beaufighters to which No. 25 Squadron was about to convert. Both of these pilots were killed on 15 September 1940 when, returning to Martlesham Heath, their Beaufighters crashed near Biggin Hill in circumstances apparently unknown. It was known, however, that the first version of the Beaufighter had instability problems and was a tetchy aeroplane to fly, and that the conversion from the Blenheim MkI to an early Beaufighter was considered to be quite a hairy experience. Fortunately, however, when a modified version of the Beaufighter was delivered to the RAF with, among other things, a larger tailplane attached to the fuselage with a significant dihedral, pilots found the ugly duckling had turned into a magnificent bird of prey.


Noel recalled a lucky escape at Martlesham Heath, which occurred during a raid by Stuka dive bombers. The nearest air-raid shelter was to the rear of the officers’ mess, and, as Noel ran through the front door of the mess, heading for the back, a bomb exploded somewhere nearby and blew him back through the front door. Luckily the only hurt he suffered was to his feelings.


Following that bruising experience came another on the night of 12 August 1940, when a failure by the aerodrome duty pilot to adjust the layout of the night-landing Glim lamps correctly in light of a change in wind direction was the reason for a crash landing. Glim lamps – usually four – were spaced at 200-yard intervals, the first three being white and the last red, to mark the end of the safe landing run. Following normal procedure, it was the responsibility of the day ground crews – under the guidance of a duty pilot, or ‘bog rat’ – to set the landing lights, paying attention to the prevailing wind. ‘Bog rat’ was a derogatory name given to – usually – the most junior Pilot Officer in any line of work. The job of a duty pilot was often given to the most junior Pilot Officer about the place. This was not a good idea, particularly if the duty pilot was a day-fighter with little experience of night flying conducted amid constant air raids.


On this occasion Noel took off on an X-Raid – the term used when a pilot flew on an operation on his own – which turned out to be uneventful. On returning to land, he discovered as the Glim lamps flashed past, that the flare path had either been downwind or the wind direction had changed. Whether the aerodrome duty pilot had fallen asleep and thus failed to alter the lamps is not known; whatever the reason, it was too late for Noel to do anything, as, having already shot past the red Glim lamp, he was heading for a concrete emplacement with barbed wire entangled beyond the end of the safe-landing run. Although he had already selected the undercarriage up, he could not gain sufficient height quickly enough in a downwind mode. The inevitable crash left the short-nosed Blenheim even shorter, with Noel’s legs dangling in open air.


Noel and his gunner, Sergeant Pugh, were more concerned about each other than themselves. Leaving the aircraft on different sides, they happened to circle in the same direction. When they eventually met up in the dark, Noel found that Pugh’s head had been injured by contact with the scarfing ring of his turret, and he escorted him to the station sickbay to have his wound dressed by the medics. After the usual cup of hot, sweet tea, Noel decided to visit the pranged Blenheim to recover their parachutes. To his surprise, when he approached the aircraft he found the whole area floodlit, despite the blackout, and groups of airmen with torches scouring the scene looking for the two aircrew. A bit rattled by the prang, Noel and Pugh, en route to the sickbay, had passed by the would-be rescuers in the dark without identifying themselves. Amid cries of, ‘They have been found’, ‘They’re OK’, and ‘Put out those bloody lights’, peace descended on the airfield once more.


Another dramatic event in Noel’s tour with 25 Squadron was the scramble on the night of 11 September 1940 during atrocious weather – it was so bad that Noel, who was on ‘readiness’ and therefore due to take the first patrol, asked the controller for confirmation that they were to take off. Apparently several operations rooms had asked the same question; it was rumoured that the events had reached the ears of Winston Churchill himself, who was reported to have commented, ‘If the Germans can fly in this weather, so can the RAF.’ Noel was unable to recall what the weather was like over Germany and the occupied territories that night, but the weather controller who had ordered him to scramble had not offered to discuss the matter.


Accompanied for the penultimate time by his air gunner, Sergeant Bob Berwick, Noel taxied out into a pitch-black night with lashing rain and visibility so bad that he could barely see the flare-path Glim lamps. They took off from Martlesham Heath in appalling flying conditions, with thick cloud and heavy icing from 0 to 20,000 feet. The Blenheim of the time had an underrated generator, which could cause the batteries to drain if too much electrical equipment was used. The conditions that night required the pitot-head heater to be switched on; added to the other required items, this caused the radio, intercom, cockpit lighting and air-speed indicator to fail gradually as the batteries flattened, while, at the same time, the Ventura on the outside of the fuselage iced up, so that the gyroscope of the artificial horizon toppled and ceased to function, which would add to Noel’s problems later on.


They broke out of cloud into bright moonlight at just over 20,000 feet. Although there was plenty of flak about, there were no signs of other aircraft above the cloud ceiling. After patrolling for a while without contact with the ground controllers, and keeping an eye on British flak bursts as a possible indication of the whereabouts of bandit aircraft, Noel decided it was time to think about getting his aircraft back down to earth again in one piece. Throttling back on the engines, he entered solid cloud again. Just before the intercom failed altogether, Noel called Bob Berwick forward from the turret, complete with his parachute; it meant that Bob had to scramble over the bomb-bay enclosure in the centre of the fuselage in the bitter cold and with an interrupted oxygen supply, but it was essential for Noel to maintain contact with Bob in case a return to base should prove impossible and it became necessary for them to abandon the aircraft.


When Bob Berwick reached the cockpit, he found Noel struggling to maintain control. Everything was coated in rime ice and there was no air-speed indicator or artificial horizon. Noel’s helmet was frozen to the cockpit dimmer switch above his head, and he had to break this in order to communicate with Bob. By tugging Bob’s helmet flaps close to his face, Noel could just make himself heard above the roar of the engines reflected from the solid cloud in which they were flying and the continuous racket caused by the ice breaking away from the leading edge of the wings and hammering against the outside of the aircraft. He cautioned Bob about the possibility that, as they were dangerously low on fuel and virtually lost, they might have to abandon the aircraft, in which case Bob would have to be ready to leave first. Noel had already decided that, in that event, it would be preferable to bale out over the sea, rather than have an aircraft go down in a built-up area.


Noel believed, however, that by dead reckoning he had a fair idea of their whereabouts. He decided to steer a course on a compass that, hopefully, would take them out to sea, somewhere off the Suffolk coast. Still in solid cloud and jiggling the throttles to give reasonable engine notes and response from the control surfaces, Noel continued his descent, hoping that there had not been too great a change in barometric pressure since the time of their take-off and that the altimeter was still giving a reasonably accurate reading of their altitude. Fortune smiled on them aplenty that night. When they broke out of cloud at an indicated 300 feet, they were over the sea. They saw a brief flash of light to their port. Noel reckoned that, generally, where there are lights there are people, and he turned to port. After a few minutes, they crossed the coast, and Noel recognised the estuary of the River Orwell at Harwich.


Their track was now familiar, a few miles north-east up the coast, past Felixstowe, brought them to the entrance of the River Deben, and seven-odd miles up the Deben brought them to a familiar Y junction. Following the left arm of the Y in a gentle turn to port led them straight into their base at Martlesham. Pulling hard back on the control column to leapfrog a hangar which loomed out of the darkness, Noel felt that, after three hours and forty minutes of flying time, he had insufficient fuel left to enable him to go around again on an overshoot, so he cut the engine switches and dropped the Blenheim onto the deck like a sack of spuds. Sure enough, when the Blenheim stopped, tail down, after a very short run, there was insufficient fuel in the tanks to allow them to taxi to their flight dispersal. Tractor, please!


Noel described another memory of Martlesham:


While the early air-to-air radar sets in the Blenheim were unreliable and inefficient, because of the urgent need for a satisfactory defence against night bombers as a consequence of the German switch from daylight raids on our fighter airfields to the night bombing of the cities, our Night-Fighter Squadron persisted with their work in carrying out trials and testing of the radar equipment and training of operators not only on extra day training flights but also, as often as possible, on night operational patrols.


Noel continued flying convoy and defensive patrols during the Battle of Britain and up until January 1941, when he completed his first tour of operations. His logbook clearly shows the many movements typical of the squadrons in those days. In the period of his posting from June 1940 to January 1941, he operated from Martlesham Heath, North Weald, Debden and Wittering. Meanwhile, in December he had his first flight in the new Beaufighter. His last flight with 25 Squadron was on 22 January 1941; he emerged once again with an assessment of ‘Average’ as a fighter pilot, and had logged 116 flights.


1941 AND 1942


After completing his tour with 25 Squadron, Noel was posted to Parachute and Cables (PAC) 72 Group (Special Duties Flight) at Northolt, Middlesex, from 29 January until 12 February. He then moved on with the same unit to Denham until 16 September. The commanding officer, Wing Commander T. H. England – widely known in the RAF as ‘Tom Harry’ – had come out of retirement to head the unit. Airfield defence was the task here, and in particular the development of a system to counter dive-bombing and aircraft attacking at low level. On the approach of a hostile aircraft, a battery of rockets – each trailing a steel wire – was fired vertically several hundred feet into the air. At their zenith, a small parachute would deploy and support each wire for a short time. An attacking aircraft would foul the wire and, in theory, raise an explosive device attached to the bottom end of each wire until it struck the leading edge of the aircraft’s wing.5


The system seems to have been reasonably effective, but it took some time to develop, entailing a large number of Blenheim development flights to simulate attacking aircraft. This large number of flights was effectively doubled as a Magister had to be flown from Denham to Northolt each day to collect the Blenheim development aircraft used for the flyover trials and the training of PAC operators at Denham, which at that time was too small an airfield for a Blenheim to take off and land safely. Noel discussed this problem with Tom Harry, feeling confident that, by using emergency take-off and precautionary landing procedures, he could operate with the Blenheim directly into Denham. He obtained permission to carry out a number of trials. The result of these was that it was agreed that the Blenheim could be operated directly from Denham. In his flying period there, from 8 February until 16 September, Noel carried out 322 flights in various aircraft.


He found, however, that the nature of the PAC flying in the Blenheim – with, among other things, its full-throttle diving, climbing and high G turns – was very severe on his physical system. From 31 July to 7 September he was not fit to fly. During this period he was admitted to Hillingdon Hospital nearby with very severe stomach trouble. Noel’s symptoms led to his being diagnosed as suffering from gastro-enteritis. At that time there was a serious outbreak of gastro-enteritis among the young children of the civilian population; a very high proportion of them died from the illness. The hospital was packed with these very ill children, as well as the casualties from the German raids on London. Noel felt extremely guilty about being segregated in a room by himself when many of the patients were sleeping on the floor on mattresses, in the corridors and between the beds in the wards.


Hillingdon was a civilian hospital and was operating under very severe pressure, so it was understandable that the medical staff enquired about the nature of the flying being carried out by Noel prior to his admission as a patient. This subject would raise its head again in the autumn of 1943, when Noel was admitted to Drymen Army Hospital with severe stomach trouble and there was a problem of diagnosis. It happened that a party of army doctors visiting Drymen included a United States Air Corps doctor, who took a great interest in Noel’s case and asked about the nature of Noel’s flying duties prior to his admission to Drymen. The Air Corps doctor had come across these symptoms before in the United States. He was convinced that Noel’s stomach trouble was related to his long period of high G flying prior to March 1943 and recommended a suitable course of treatment. As it happened, Noel’s condition improved rapidly under the treatment and there was no reoccurrence of the trouble.


Several PAC demonstrations were carried out for visiting dignitaries, as the squadron was always seeking to raise funds for development. One of these demonstrations at Denham – on 9 March 1941 – resulted in a near disaster in front of Australian Prime Minister Menzies, who was accompanied by Field Marshal Gort and the Secretary of State for Air. Sir Winston Churchill had been scheduled to attend, but was unable to do so because of a heavy cold.


The demonstration had been arranged with great care. The rockets were to be replaced by dummies containing no explosive devices and no rocket propellant, and the amount of powder in the cartridges of the projectors was reduced so that the dummy rockets, without trailing wires, would rise no more than forty feet before falling harmlessly back to earth. In this way the watching audience would see clearly what was happening. Needless to say, in view of the importance of the occasion, all of the modified equipment was subjected to multiple safety checks by the armourers to ensure that nothing untoward would occur during the demonstration.


Noel had been given a precise time for his arrival from Northolt in the Blenheim to simulate the attacking aircraft. He duly arrived on time and the dummy rockets were fired in front of him as planned. One, however, at the end of the line, proved to be a maverick; it must still have contained some propellant, which ignited when the projectors were fused, it lingered at twelve metres up in the air for a few seconds, spinning like a whirling dervish (since it was unstable without its trailing wire), and started moving towards the visiting dignitaries. Fortunately, it veered off and dropped to the ground, where it burned itself out without doing any damage. (The next demonstration, a few weeks later, in front of the Duke of Kent, went off without a repeat of these problems.)


Noel was glad to accept an invitation to have afternoon tea in the mess when he had put the Blenheim to bed on his return to Northolt, and then flew back to Denham to be greeted with an angry, ‘Where the hell have you been?’ It happened that Field Marshal Gort had expressed a wish to talk to the pilot of the target aircraft and obtain his views on the usefulness of the weapon in resisting attack. The Field Marshal had extended his visit in Denham by almost an hour, awaiting Noel’s return, but could not wait any longer as he had a full programme to fulfil that day. Noel wondered if it was a first: a Pilot Officer keeping a Field Marshal waiting for almost an hour.


The short Denham landing strip was to cause a major crash on 16 July when Noel, with Aircraftman Duffield aboard, touched down hard as required and his aircraft’s undercarriage legs collapsed. The wing-tip touched the ground and the Blenheim somersaulted. It was written off. Thankfully, the only hurt the two occupants sustained – apart from minor bruises – was to their feelings! A replacement aircraft arrived from Bristol’s, along with an accident inspector who checked over the wreck. He eventually concluded that the crash was due to a faulty valve, which gave an incorrect cockpit indication of ‘gear down’ and ‘locked’.


Noel recalled that a film called Hatter’s Castle, starring Deborah Kerr, was being made at the Denham Studios close to the airfield when he was there. Many takes were spoiled by the sight and sound of the low-flying development aircraft and had to be reshot, because the film was a period piece set in the days of horse-drawn carriages and oil lamps. Tom Harry received numerous complaints from the film-makers, who had to be content with being reminded by him that, ‘There is a bloody war on.’ However, despite these problems, several officers from the RAF unit were invited to attend the customary winding-up party held in the studios on the last set of the film. Sadly, from Noel’s point of view, his peers decided that it would be impudent for the offending pilot to attend and, anyway, there were more volunteers anxious to attend than invitations issued.


During the period when Noel was using the lightweight Magister to fly between Denham and Northolt, the aircraft was housed at one end of a large canvas Bessonneau hangar left over from World War I and hidden away in a wood at the edge of the airfield. Invariably, when he required the Magister it was ticking over, already warmed up by the flight mechanics, standing just inside the entrance to the dimly lit hangar, all ready to be taxied out. One day Noel decided to explore the other end of the hangar; to his delight he found there – hidden away under large dust sheets – the De Havilland 88 Comet Racer which a few years previously had completed a record-breaking flight to Australia and which greatly influenced the design of a twin-engined, light fighter/bomber for the RAF, later to become known as the Mosquito. Another pleasant surprise – under more dust sheets – came in the form of the famous Supermarine S.6B aircraft which won the Schneider Trophy outright for Britain in 1931 and, a few weeks later, became the first aircraft in the world to fly faster than 400 miles per hour. This aircraft was built with a cockpit made to measure for the pilot who flew it in the race; it gave Noel great pleasure to be able to slip neatly into the seat, knowing that he was sitting in the aircraft that had made such a substantial contribution to the design of the Spitfire.


In September 1941 the PAC Unit, including the Special Duties Flight, was moved to Eastchurch on the Isle of Sheppey in the Thames estuary. Eastchurch – a large but very old RAF station used by anti-Zeppelin fighters in the defence of London during World War I – had been bombed out of commission during the Blitz on London in 1940. The airfield was a large, all-grass, L-shaped area, pock-marked over the whole of its surface by bomb craters that had been filled with earth and rubble and rolled to enable the airfield to be used for flying again. Unfortunately, the top crusts of many of the filled-in craters were liable to collapse suddenly under the weight of any landing or taxiing aircraft other than very light aircraft. This made it essential for pilots to choose, with great care, their line of approach and landing, and their taxiing route to and from the perimeter of the airfield. In early 1942, because of additional flying duties performed by the Flight and the additional aircraft for which it became responsible, it was renamed Station Flight, RAF Eastchurch, and Noel found himself, as Flying Officer, in charge of a Flight equipped with the De Havilland Moth variants, Mosquito, Blenheim MkIV and Lysander MkIIIA aircraft. He would remain with the Flight until 17 February 1943, carrying out 312 flights, all solo. He became very fond of the Lysander aircraft, which he described as ‘beautiful to fly’.


In the middle of 1942 Noel renewed his acquaintance with another old favourite when the Flight acquired a De Havilland Tiger Moth, the aircraft in which he first learned to fly back at Sydenham in 1939. His duties were various and included, in addition to the main work of PAC flyovers, ack-ack cooperation exercises with the army, ground defence inspections, aerodrome camouflage inspections, air tests and, when time permitted, giving air experience flights to members of the Air Cadet Force. The rest of 1942 passed as he carried out these duties.


1943


On 8 January 1943 Noel’s logbook shows a break from the routine when he was engaged in a search for escaped prisoners of war, but he was soon back to more mundane work, including search-light cooperation, range spotting for the army and inspection of the blackouts. Upon leaving the Flight on 17 February, he received a well-earned ‘Above the Average’ assessment by the Eastchurch CO and was promoted to Flight Lieutenant.


While Noel appreciated the importance of the PAC development work, he found the work unsatisfying, particularly when the enemy was busily engaged in bombing many parts of the country. Moreover, since he had been rested from operations there had been significant improvement in the air-to-air radar equipment in use in the Beaufighter night-fighter aircraft. After two years away from operations, he had – through the good offices of a friend in the PAC Unit who had a brother stationed in the Air Ministry Postings Section – arranged to return to the ‘sharp end’, flying Mosquitoes. Following some home leave, Noel arrived on 2 March at his next posting: No. 18 (Pilot) Advanced Flying Unit (AFU) at Church Lawford near Rugby. There, because he had been away from supervised flying of any kind for about two years, until mid-April he was to undergo some training on Oxfords prior to taking the next step towards operations. However, he was about to run into an old friend and a new problem.


Charles Lindsay – who as a Flight Lieutenant had given Noel his first flight in February 1939 at Sydenham and had been his flying instructor throughout elementary training – was now a Wing Commander and the CFI at Church Lawford. Noel was delighted to meet up with his old friend, whom he held in very high regard, but he was less than happy about the effect it might have on his efforts to return to operations when Charles, in welcoming him to Church Lawford, informed him that as the need for flying instructors was great he would be arranging for Noel to become one. Uneasy about what had happened, Noel telephoned his friend at the PAC Unit back at Eastchurch. He explained his problem and asked his friend to contact his brother in Air Ministry Postings to get the operational posting confirmed; this his friend agreed to do. However, one week later Charles Lindsay sent for Noel to explain to him that he also had a friend in Air Ministry Posting, and as his friend was more senior in rank that Noel’s contact, Noel was about to become a flying instructor.


Noel’s logbook records that on 16 March 1943 he and Wing Commander Lindsay ‘borrowed’ an Oxford from Church Lawford and flew it to Sydenham to watch a rugby match at Ravenhill – Inst versus Methody – returning to Church Lawford two days later.


In the middle of this period Noel was attached to No. 1533 Blind Flying Approach Training Flight, also at Church Lawford, for some advanced training on the No. 15 course. Squadron Leader Cawley, OC No. 1533 Flight, assessed Noel as ‘Above the Average’, as he had achieved a high standard. Noel returned to No. 18 (P) AFU to complete his last few weeks on precision night-flying practice and was assessed overall as ‘Above the Average’. His assessment was signed by Wing Commander Lindsay.


On 14 April Noel arrived at his new posting with No. 2 Flying Instructors Course at RAF Montrose, on the coast south of Aberdeen. There he successfully completed the No. 27 course with ‘E’ Flight and emerged as an instructor on multi-engined aircraft, ready to begin teaching the new recruits coming through. On 3 July he arrived at Banff, east of Inverness, to take up an instructor’s position with ‘A’ Flight, No. 1 Squadron of No. 14 (P) AFU. In October he transferred to No. 2 Squadron to become a Flight Commander, and remained there until March the following year, leaving with an ‘Above the Average’ assessment as an instructor. Since joining No. 18 (P) AFU the previous February, he had logged another 271 flights.


A brief wartime HISTORY OF NO. 12 (HB) SQUADRON


No. 12 Squadron’s motto is ‘Leads the Field’ and its badge depicts the head of a fox. This comes from the time when the squadron was equipped with the Fairey Fox aircraft. Formed from part of No. 1 Squadron Royal Flying Corps at Netheravon, Wiltshire, in 1915, it initially operated under the command of Major C. L. Newall, mainly on army cooperation duties for the rest of World War I.


Major Newall became marshal of the RAF and was the retiring chief of the air staff in the summer of 1940 when the squadron achieved its greatest honour. Led by Pilot Officer Donald Garland, six Fairey Battles attacked a heavily defended bridge at Veldwezelt on the Albert Canal at Maastricht.



Although the bridge was severely damaged, the cost to life was appallingly high. Of the eighteen aircrew involved, only three managed to crash on friendly soil; most of the other fifteen were killed, although a few were taken prisoner. Garland and his navigator, Sergeant Thomas Gray, were both awarded posthumous Victoria Crosses, the first awards of the country’s highest honour to RAF crew during World War II.


In late 1942 the squadron, now equipped with Wellingtons, moved to the newly constructed Wickenby airfield and converted from the Wellington to the Lancaster. Their first operation from Wickenby was on 11 December to Turin. In early November 1943 ‘C’ Flight formed the nucleus of the new No. 626 Squadron, whose motto was ‘To Strive and Not To Yield’. It went operational on 10 November to Modane, and the two squadrons operated together from Wickenby for the rest of the war. Between them they dispatched 6,610 Lancaster raids to 469 targets and carried out 45 mine-laying sorties. They lost 160 aircraft on operations and a further 29 in accidents, leading to the loss of 1,180 air crew. The squadrons operated in parallel, often on the same target, and represented more than twenty per cent of the Lancaster operational strength of No. 1 Group. One Lancaster, ME758 of No. 12 Squadron, carried out 108 raids in eleven months, from May 1944 to April 1945, dropping in excess of 45,000 kilograms of bombs. Together at the end, both squadrons carried out their last operation of the war on 25 April 1945, providing thirty Lancasters for the raid on Berchtesgaden. No. 626 was disbanded in late 1945, while No. 12 still survives.


With the aim of perpetuating the memories of those lost on operations, the Wickenby Register was formed in 1979, bringing together former 12 and 626 Squadron members or their surviving families, together with those of No. 92 Maintenance Unit, which also operated at Wickenby. The Register is a non-profit-making association, which strives to make and maintain contact with all former and current serving personnel so that old friendships can be renewed and new ones made. In this it has been very successful; it has a membership well in excess of 1,000. One of the early actions of the Register resulted in the erection of the Icarus Memorial at Wickenby Airfield. Commissioned and erected by members in 1981, the memorial is to the fallen of both squadrons. (I was delighted and honoured when asked to become a member of the Wickenby Register in 1999.)


1944


Whilst at Banff, Noel renewed his request for a return to operations, and was pleased to be given confirmation that he would soon be joining Bomber Command. Accordingly he moved to No. 13 OTU at Hixon to commence training, but found himself on a Wellington bomber instead of the Mosquito he had been expecting. He found out later that someone had ticked the wrong box and, instead of a Mosquito posting, all he got was a dirty old Wimpy. After only two flights and three hours’ instruction, he went solo on 31 March. Upon leaving the OTU on 14 April he was assessed as ‘Above the Average’ as a medium bomber pilot. Strange as it may seem, he was then posted to heavy bombers at No. 1656 Halifax Conversion Unit (HCU) at Lindholme, near Rotherham, on 1 May; he commenced flying a Halifax the same day. The No. 82 course concluded thirteen days later, and he left the HCU with a further ‘Above the Average’ assessment, this time as a heavy bomber pilot. Noel’s conversion from a fighter pilot to a bomber pilot was now complete.


On 17 April Noel and his new crew moved to No. 1 Lancaster Finishing School at Hemswell, joining the No. 15 course, where Noel spent the first ten days in the classroom, learning the various Lancaster drills and procedures. He took to the air on 27 April for three flights, followed by five on 29 April, before being posted to No. 12 (Bomber) Squadron at Wickenby near Lincoln. There Noel was to start his second tour of duty of twenty operations.


On 2 June Noel carried out his first No. 12 Squadron operation in a Lancaster C. The target was to Berneval-le-Grand in northern France. Noel acted as co-pilot to Pilot Officer Black for his required second dickey trip – a second dickey being an inexperienced pilot who has not flown on operations and must fly on a certain number of operations with an experienced pilot before flying as captain of his own aircraft and crew on operations. Two raids later Noel was promoted to Squadron Leader and appointed as OC ‘A’ Flight. He went on to complete a further twenty-four bombing operations over France and Germany, including eleven in daylight, completing his second operational tour on 8 September 1944 with a daylight raid to Le Havre.


Enemy targets that Noel and his crew visited while at No. 12 Squadron were Berneval-le-Grand, Pas de Calais, Boulogne, Aulnoye, Marquise-Mimoyecques (flying-bomb sites), Saintes, Vaires, Vierzon, Orleans, ‘Foret-du Crog’, Caen (daylight), Keil, Stuttgart, Pauillac, Fontenay-le-Marmion (Normandy), Rüsselsheim (Frankfurt), Fromentel (daylight), St Riquier (daylight), Le Havre (daylight), Neuss (Düsseldorf), Cap Gris-Nez, Kattegat and Fort Frederik Hendrik. On 24 July 1944 Noel’s logbook records that while bombing Keil, they got into a fight with a Ju 88 but managed to beat it off, although his Lancaster received some damage.


The operation to Stuttgart on 25 July 1944 was an interesting one, as it was an operation of nine hours and thirty-five minutes in which the target was difficult to locate due to dummy markers deployed by the Germans. Noel had generator trouble with one of his engines on the way in to the target and had to revert to the compass, missing the target first time round. He successfully bombed the target on the second attempt, aiming between the two fires. Two Focke-Wulf 190s attacked but were chased by Noel’s gunners. His fuel was running low on the return leg, so when he reached the French coast, he called ‘Darky’ (the emergency call to night airfields). Darky responded quickly and they landed safely. He immediately phoned Wickenby to let operations know that they were safe.


On 8 December 1944 Noel was awarded a well-deserved DFC.
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Squadron Leader Noel Corry gives the thumbs up to his ground crew, indicating that they have done a first-class job getting Shillelagh ready for his next operation.



Shillelagh


This is the story of how Noel’s plane came to be named Shillelagh. One day Noel decided that he would like a motif painted on the side of his Lancaster. He pictured a large Red Hand of Ulster emblazoned on the side of his Lancaster, just below his cockpit. So he asked Paddy, one of his ground mechanics, who was from Dublin and a staunch republican, if he could do this for him. With a twinkle in his eye, Paddy said, ‘Certainly sir, it will be ready for tomorrow night’s ops.’ Of course, being a republican, Paddy was not going to paint the Red Hand of Ulster on the side of Noel’s Lancaster PH-A.


When Noel and his crew arrived at PH-A for ops, Noel looked up and saw painted on the side of his aircraft a large green shamrock. Emblazoned across it was a red bar with the name Shillelagh – which is an oak or blackthorn sapling wielded as a cudgel in Ireland. Noel had a good laugh and decided to keep it because of the saying about the ‘luck of the Irish’, and it appears to have brought Noel and his crew a lot of luck. Noel and his crew flew Shillelagh on eleven occasions, the plane having been collected by them new from Ludford Magna on 4 July 1944. Their last flight on Shillelagh was on 25 August 1944; before their next operation, the Lancaster was shot down and destroyed while in the hands of another crew. Although Noel and his crew subsequently flew another PH-A, they did not personalise it.


Noel’s crew in the Shillelagh were:






John ‘Jack’ Galbraith          Navigator                 RCAF


Tommy Atkins                 Flight engineer


Frank ‘Peewee’ Faulkner    Rear gunner


Douglas ‘Ozzie’ Osborne    Mid upper gunner


Robert ‘Bob’ Gregg            Bomb aimer              RCAF


                                         /second pilot


Joe ‘Wally’ Waldron            Wireless operator






Frank Faulkner, a great friend of Noel’s, has been a tremendous help to me in the compilation of Noel’s story. The following extract from his letters gives details of how he and his fellow crew members came to meet Noel, or, as is almost inevitable, ‘Paddy’:






Our original skipper, Warrant Officer ‘Kit’ Cotton-Minchin, had been a Staff Pilot in Scotland … We met up at the OTU at Hixon and learned to master the Wellington. From there we went on to the Conversion Unit on Halifaxes and then to the Lancaster Finishing School [LFS]. We arrived at Wickenby from Hemswell for night flying, still under LFS, but liked the feel of this new station even though it was less well developed than others we knew. We successfully applied for a posting to No. 12 Squadron after LFS and were delighted to be posted in on the 24th March 1944.


I recall the welcome from the Commanding Officer, Wing Commander J. D. ‘Tubby’ Nelson, delivered to us and three other crews on the day of our arrival. He said that if current statistics were anything to go by he would only be saying goodbye to one of the four crews. Alas he was all too correct as, six days later, the first crew had got the chop. This was on the notorious Nuremburg raid of the 30th March when we lost 94 aircraft and 700 men. (We being Bomber Command and not the Wickonby [sic] squadrons.) Our Skipper had been doing his mandatory ‘second-dickey’ trip on this raid and was unfortunately one of those who failed to return. We were all devastated and the more so as, waking up to find his empty bed, we then had the task of collecting up the effects of our skipper.


A headless crew was of little use to ‘12,’ and so, two months later, we returned to dear old Wickonby [sic] having completed another Halifax Conversion course and another Lancaster Finishing course, but this time we had a new skipper, Noel Corry, better known as ‘Paddy’.


He had previously been a night-fighter pilot during the Battle of Britain but he quickly adapted to heavies and his experience, capabilities and leadership qualities were soon recognised with his promotion to Squadron Leader and ‘A’ Flight Commander. At that stage we had completed 3 ops but as a crew we had a problem. The Air Ministry had decreed that Paddy, having done more than his fair share in the Battle of Britain, must regard his tour with 12 Squadron his second. This meant that he would only be permitted to do 20 Ops and that we, his crew, would be ‘spare bod[ie]s’ for 10 operations to complete our thirty. As all crews know, operating in that way greatly reduced the chances of survival. Paddy would not accept this situation for his crew and, after the strongest protests, the Air Ministry compromised reluctantly and permitted him to split the difference. Fearing that he would carry on beyond the permitted number, the Air Ministry posted him promptly after his last 24th authorised op. He was thus dispatched to the Air Staff and we were headless again although we were fortunate to do the extra 6 without problem, albeit with several different crewless senior officers.


Noel left 12 Squadron well before we finished our 30 and it was always a matter of deep personal regret that 7 men endure so much together, be dependent on each other and forge very close bonds, only to go their separate ways when their duty was done … years later I located Noel and after exchanging correspondence we met in London. Needless to say it was a memorable and happy occasion after 40 years.


18 July 1944


In a break between operations, Noel and his crew enjoyed a jaunt back to his homeland – to the American base at Langford Lodge in County Antrim, beautifully situated on the eastern shores of Lough Neagh, the UK’s largest freshwater lake.


The RAF boffins thought that a Liberator rear turret could be fitted to a Lancaster – the heavier Browning .5 calibre machine guns being desirable – and one of Lancaster PH-Rs of No. 12 Squadron had been dispatched to Langford Lodge to have this turret fitted. Not surprisingly, the Liberator turret would not fit, and the local ground crew (Americans) had difficulty replacing the Lancaster’s own turret. Tubby Nelson, No. 12 Squadron CO, asked Noel if he would like a trip home in Lancaster PH-E, taking with him an engineering crew to replace the Lancaster’s turret. Naturally he did not refuse and flew over to Langford Lodge on 18 July 1944. When he arrived he found the Americans friendly and most interested in the Lancaster. An American officer arrived in a Jeep just as Noel and the crew were disembarking from the aircraft and said, ‘Sir, this is your transport until you leave.’


Noel, being the gentleman that he was, took the time to show anyone who was interested around the Lancaster. He spent two days at Langford, and I am in no doubt that he and his crew were treated well by the Americans. They left Langford Lodge on 20 July, and Noel decided to show the Lancaster off to the watching American aircrew, technicians and civilians. As any Lancaster was not a common sight in Northern Ireland during the war, it can be imagined that actually to see one from Bomber Command would be quite an event, more so as it was currently in use on operations with a front-line squadron and was being flown by an operational crew. He took off at full throttle, and just as she left the ground he pulled back hard on the control column; he then did a few low circuits around the aerodrome before setting a course for Wickenby.


Langford Lodge is now owned by the Martin Baker Company and used in part for the testing of ejector seats. The former US Station 597 still retains many of its original wartime buildings and the runways are still in use today. The original control tower, dating back to 1941/42, remains intact and is thought to feature the first example in the UK of the use of angled windows to cut down glare, rain and reflections. No records are known to exist that contradict this but, even if this is not the case, an additional feature is surely unique: all the windows – including those in the toilets – are angled. Only in Ireland!6


Noel’s second tour of operations was now over, and he left Wickenby in late October with an ‘Above the Average’ assessment from the CO, Wing Commander Stockdale. His last flight with the squadron was on 11 October, when he flew a daylight operation in Lancaster PH-A to Fort Frederik Hendrik to bomb the River Scheldt gun batteries at Breskin. His total flying hours when he left the squadron were 1,192 hours and 40 minutes, and he had completed his twenty-four operations. A posting now followed to Bomber Command headquarters at High Wycombe, seconded to HQ Group at Bawtry Hall, headed by the AOC, Air Vice-Marshal (AVM) Blucke, DSO, AFC. In charge of flying the air staff was Wing Commander Reddick, under whom Noel had trained whilst at Shawbury in 1940.


1945


At Bomber Command headquarters Noel’s main job was aircrew safety and rescue officer. His duties entailed visiting various stations and checking crew standards. It would appear, however, that his travelling was done mostly by road, as very little flying was recorded for this period until early June. He did fly an old favourite – the Tiger Moth (NM 139) – on 8 January by himself, and on 2 March he flew an Oxford from Bircotes to Squires Gate and back.


On 8 June he flew as no. 2 to Wing Commander Reddick in Lancaster P4-I of 103 Squadron. Carrying AVM Blucke, they did a ‘Cook’s’ tour of inspection of former enemy targets in Germany and Holland. Their six-hour flight schedule read: ‘Scampton to Eindhoven – Essen – Munster – Bielefeld – Hanover – Nienburg – Bremen – Wilhelmshaven – Emden, and return to Scampton.’


The crew of Lancaster P4-I were quite a distinguished lot:






Air Vice-Marshal Blucke, DSO, AFC 1st pilot


Wing Commander Reddick 1st pilot


Squadron Leader Corry, DFC, AE 2nd pilot


Squadron Leader Derry, DFC Navigator


Squadron Leader Wood, DFC Wireless operator


Squadron Leader Evans, DFC Air bomber


Squadron Leader Danby, DFC Mid upper gunner


Squadron Leader Cox, DFC Rear gunner


Flight Lieutenant Richards, DFC Flight engineer






The Lancaster had presumably been flown down from Elsham Wolds, as No. 103 Squadron is not recorded as having operated from Scampton.


On 8 July Noel was attached for two weeks to the No. 1 Parachute Training School at Ringway, where he attended an elementary course in parachuting and made five parachute descents from 700 feet, three from a Dakota and two from a balloon. The Dakota serial numbers were F2560, F2566 and F2567. On Noel’s completion of the course, the AVM in charge of administration entered the following in Noel’s logbook: ‘He was of a very pleasant disposition, and was a willing worker, whose reactions were normal. He reached an average standard in parachuting and appeared quite confident. Great interest was shown in all aspects of the work.’


Another ‘Cook’s’ tour was commenced on 23 July, returning on 30 July; again Noel was flying no. 2 to Wing Commander Reddick. They were also carrying two AVMs, Sanders and Roach, in Lancaster P4-P2. Their schedule took them from Scampton to Westcott to Pomigliano (Italy) to Istres (France) to Westcott and back to Scampton. During his few days in Italy Noel accompanied an American Dakota from Rome to Naples to ferry VIPs. The purpose of this trip was to bring back British prisoners of war who had been held by the Japanese.


It was back to Italy again on 11 August to ferry the AOC. They returned on 15 August, and Noel’s logbook shows the carrying of eighteen priority 1 compassionate-leave cases, all army personnel. Whilst in Rome, the AOC arranged a visit to the Vatican and the Sistine Chapel. This had been on the insistence of his wife, who had asked him to ensure he did so and tell her all about it. AVM Blucke requested that Noel accompany him. Riding in the appropriate staff car, they duly arrived in St Peter’s Square, where they were met by a Vatican official. They were politely ushered into the Sistine Chapel, where they met Pope Pius XII; he was giving an audience to some Polish officers and invited them to join him.


Noel returned home to Aldergrove briefly on 13 September for the Battle of Britain Day Exhibition in Lancaster RA592, returning to Elsham Wolds, south of Hull, on 17 September. (I am quite sure that the servicemen and the public who were watching the Lancaster taking part in the fly-past did not know it was being flown by a ‘fighter boy’ who had served in the Battle of Britain.) Noel’s last fight with the RAF was on 16 November 1945, when he flew an Oxford from Bircotes to Finningley, which took all of about ten minutes.


His final assessment by Wing Commander Reddick was that he was an ‘Exceptional Staff Pilot’.


NOEL’S REPUTATION


Noel was a charming and funny man who got up to all sorts of pranks. Some of these are related here.


The Hat


Noel and Wing Commander Reddick got to know each other quite well, with Noel being a frequent visitor to his superior’s office. As a standing prank, Noel would often announce his entry by opening Reddick’s office door and tossing his hat in. Reddick would toss it back out again if he was busy. On one occasion the hat was duly tossed in and nothing happened. Feeling free to enter, Noel was faced with several very senior officers gathered around a conference table, staring at a hat.


The VE Day Garden Party


On Victory in Europe (VE) Day, Noel and some of his friends borrowed some exposure suits and, well under the influence, decided to rectify the problem of them not being fitted with any means of relieving the bladder. When, later, Noel and his friends entered the lake at Bawtry Hall, the modification proved to be not too clever!


Meanwhile the camp commander, Group Captain Gordon Duff, an ex-army Scot, was hosting a garden party; his wife, upon seeing the returning half-drowned apparitions, decided she must sit down. Unfortunately her timing was awry, as at that moment Wing Commander Reddick had commenced letting off fireworks from his office window, overlooking the gardens. Mrs Duff was the recipient of one such firework in an embarrassing place – just as she sat down!


Ducks Do Fly At Night


By the spring of 1945 when the aircrew, then comprising the air staff at Bawtry Hall on various assignments, were primarily from Bomber Command, they were only too aware of the horrific losses being suffered by bomber crews. Many were engaged, using their valuable experience, in activities related to safety or tactics aimed at increasing the survival rate of operational crews. Most of them had arrived at this posting expecting to be returned to operations after a mandatory rest period; all had completed at least two tours of operations. They realised the odds against their completing even one more raid successfully were quite remarkable and the expectation of surviving the war was low in the extreme. Consequently when hostilities finally ceased in Europe, they were relieved beyond belief to realise that survival was suddenly possible, even probable, notwithstanding the war still raging outside Europe. Given that they were in an unaccustomed state of euphoria, they became, in Noel’s words, ‘like schoolboys’. In truth, many were little more than just that, and they all – regardless of age – took every opportunity to party.


In 1939 at Bawtry Hall, some champagne had been laid down to await victory. Some time after VE Day this emerged in celebration, and the air staff had their share – and probably more. In the newly established atmosphere of freedom from an almost certain death, the drink flowed; soon the fliers were beyond rationality and seriously discussing the various merits of ducks. Agreement could not reached as to whether they flew at night.


In their sozzled state, someone remembered that the station police post maintained a small duck pond to its rear. Somehow a connection was invented between this and the VIP dinner and ball then taking place at Bawtry Hall. One visit to the duck pond later, the inebriated gang of nine arrived at the ballroom, every one complete with a duck under each arm. At a prearranged time, the lights were extinguished and eighteen ducks found themselves propelled through windows into the now dark ballroom. All hell broke loose, with women screaming and men cursing loudly, mainly about what the ducks were doing, presumably in flight. By this time the errant lads had moved on to the local pub and, despite their state, were fairly certain that Group Captain Duff would not be well pleased – not that that was of great concern just at that moment. Next morning, in best Blues, the air staff were paraded before the Scotsman for the expected tirade and dressing down. AVM Blucke, standing behind the seated Duff, could barely keep his face straight, and Noel always wondered how they managed to control themselves.






[image: ]



Dinah Corry in her WAAF uniform.



How I Met ‘Wee Jock’


Noel’s wife Dinah’s first knowledge of him was when he cartwheeled his Blenheim at Denham on 16 July 1941, where she was based. However, they did not meet until some time after this crash.


One evening, on his way in to dinner, Noel noticed a small lizard scampering along the corridor. Picking it up, he placed it into a Swan Vesta matchbox. Whilst at dinner, he noticed a long hair in his soup and called for a waitress. He complained and handed her the matchbox, with the request to give it to the cook with his compliments. Unknown to Noel, the cook was Dinah. The waitress returned to inform him that the cook had fainted upon seeing the lizard leap from the matchbox. This elicited a personal apology from Noel when Dinah came round.


Some time later, Noel and friends attended a dance in the station cinema, where he noticed Dinah. She politely accepted his invitation for a dance and allowed herself to be escorted back to the Women’s Auxiliary Air Force (WAAF) quarters. That evening a romance, which lasted for more than sixty years, was started. Some of the more senior officers took exception to an officer dating a WAAF cook and tried to make things difficult. When it was obvious that the pair were quite serious, they tried to get Dinah posted elsewhere, but the wife of the station CO approved of the romance and this made things easier.


The pair were engaged in December 1942 and married on 4 December 1943 at Houndwood Church in Berwickshire, despite Dinah having a cold. They honeymooned in Dublin in the Wicklow Hotel, where – as a wedding present – Dinah gave Noel her cold! The south of Ireland was neutral during World War II, and so the Germans were able to have an embassy in Dublin. Noel met two Luftwaffe officers walking down O’Connell Street, and he recalled that he would have enjoyed kicking their backsides if it had been at all possible.


Soon afterwards, Noel was off to operations at Wickenby, and Dinah to Fiskerton, also near Lincoln, then West Freugh near Stranraer. There, on Noel’s visits, they would stay at the Syracuse Hotel, which had been adopted by the ‘Bomber Boys’ and at which they became well known to the manageress. She invariably put them into the bridal suite. On 12 October 1945 their daughter Marion was born, followed, almost three years later, by another, Gillian.


1946 AND LATER


Demobilisation came on 22 January 1946, and Noel and Dinah settled back in Northern Ireland with Noel reluctantly rejoining his father’s firm of accountants. He was not happy and spoke to his father, who was keen that his son should not do something that made him so unhappy. At that time his father was a governor of Inst, Noel’s old school. Sadly, he died of heart failure in the 1950s.


Noel explored several options before deciding to join the Civil Service. Entering as a senior clerk, his initial task was assisting in the introduction of the new school-meals scheme. The scheme had been announced by the new Labour government, but many thought the promised timescale for introduction was overly optimistic. With so many ex-servicemen now available, the decision was taken to employ as many as were needed, because they were used to dealing with deadlines and could probably be relied upon to meet the target date. In the event they did. Noel then moved on to assessing the Family Allowance, which had also just been introduced. He was also registrar of the Larkfield School at Finaghy and became Private Secretary to Sir Ivan Neill, the Minister of Education. Noel later applied to be, and was accepted as, Principal Officer, remaining as such until retiring in 1978 at the age of sixty. He recalled this period with some amusement whenever watching the television series Yes Minister.


Noel remained an active member in the aviation world, with membership of both the Aircrew Association and the Ulster Aviation Society. He was also proud to be one of the longer-serving members of the Wickenby Register, attending their annual reunion dinners and service of remembrance. He was also a member of the Battle of Britain Association and attended the annual service of remembrance at Westminster Abbey in London, and Capel-le-Ferne.


During the 1980s Noel suffered a series of heart attacks, and in later years was unable to travel to some of the RAF remembrance services and functions. I had the pleasure of escorting Noel and Dinah to No. 12 Squadron’s annual dinner at Wickenby in 2001 and to the Battle of Britain remembrance service at Capel-le-Ferne in July 2003.


SOME OF SQUADRON LEADER CORRY’S WARTIME STATISTICS


First flight in the RAF 26 February 1939


First solo flight 24 May 1939


First operation 10 July 1940


Last operation 11 October 1944


Longest operation 25 July 1940 – 9 hours 35 minutes


Last flight in the RAF 16 November 1945


Career flying hours 1,245 hours 25 minutes


Number of operations on the Bristol Blenheim 30


Number of operations on the Avro Lancaster 24


Awarded the DFC 8 December 1944


Aircraft types flown and number of flights


Avro Anson 3


Hawker Audax 35


Hawker Hart 102


Bristol Beaufighter 15


Bristol Blenheim 317


Douglas Dakota 4


Handley Page Halifax 42


Lockheed Hudson 2


Hornet Moth 1


Avro Lancaster 68


Westland Lysander 136


Miles Master 1


Airspeed Oxford 183


Percival Proctor 2


De Havilland Puss Moth 12


De Havilland Tiger Moth 247


Vickers Wellington 12


Total flights 1,182


A memorable day


One story which I like to recall about Noel comes from some years ago, when the Battle of Britain Lancaster was in Northern Ireland taking part in an air show. Noel was unable to attend the show, but I knew the Lancaster would be at Aldergrove the next day. I contacted the CO of RAF Aldergrove, who knew Noel had flown Lancasters during the war and asked if I could bring Noel to see the Lancaster, which – for security reasons – was parked in one of Aldergrove’s hangars. The CO immediately agreed to this request and I set things in motion right away.


Now Noel was one of those people who liked playing pranks on people, and I decided to play one on him. He knew that I was an aircraft engineer with British Airways, so I rang him up and asked, ‘Noel, what are you doing today?’


He replied, ‘Nothing much,’ so I asked him would he fancy a run to Aldergrove as I was going to look at a ‘small’ aircraft, and said we could have lunch afterwards in the officers’ mess.


He said, ‘I’ve got my coat on.’


I picked him up and off we went. On the way he asked about the type of aircraft we were going to see, so I fobbed him off with – I think – a Cherokee or something similar. We arrived at security at RAF Aldergrove; they had already been warned of our impending visit, and we were escorted down to the hangar where the Lancaster was waiting. We got out of the car and the CO was waiting for us. I told Noel – who still thought he was going to view a ‘small’ aircraft – to go ahead through the wicker gate into the hangar and I would follow shortly. By this time my eyes were welling up, and I watched Noel open the small wicker door and step inside. There was silence for a couple of seconds and then he popped his head out of the wicker door and had a smile on his face like a Cheshire cat. I left Noel to walk round the Lancaster on his own for a while and reminisce. When I approached him, both of us had tears in our eyes – me being so happy for him, and he because he remembered those dreadful days when he flew over enemy targets at 15,000 feet and remembered all of his friends who did not survive the war.


A very memorable day


During the early 1990s I thought it would be nice to bring together the Ulster survivors of the Battle of Britain – ‘The Few’, as they were known by Sir Winston Churchill. I approached the Ulster Flying Club with this idea, and it was agreed that we would hold the reunion at the club on Saturday 10 September 1993. I also wrote to Clarence House in London to invite the Queen Mother, who was the patron of the Battle of Britain Fighter Association. Sadly, she was unable to come, but she very kindly sent a letter to the then CO of Aldergrove, Group Captain Roger Wedge, who came to the dinner and read out her letter:






CLARENCE HOUSE


S.W.I


Group Captain R. E. Wedge


Senior Royal Air Force Officer


Northern Ireland






I was most touched by the kind message of loyal greetings which I received from the Members and Committees of the Ulster Flying Club and the Ulster Aviation Society on the occasion of their dinner to honour Northern Ireland’s five surviving Battle of Britain pilots.


I remember so well the courage and heroism of these aircrews who fought in the skies to defend our country during those dark days of 1940.


I pay my tribute to those brave men and I send you all the best wishes for a happy and successful Reunion.










Elizabeth R


Patron


Battle of Britain Fighter Association


10th September 1993






At the end of the evening Group Captain Wedge gave me the Queen Mother’s letter and said, ‘This is for you.’ It still hangs proudly on my study wall.


I also had five Tyrone Crystal pint tankards made and engraved with each of the recipients’ names. These were presented to ‘The Few’ by Group Captain Wedge:






Squadron Leader Noel Henry Corry, DFC, AE


Flight Lieutenant Matthew Cameron


Wing Commander Kenneth William MacKenzie, DFC, AFC, AE


William Winder McConnell, DFC & Bar


Flight Lieutenant Harold Reginald Clarke, AE






It was a very memorable occasion and never again was I able to get them all together.


On 27 May 1995 my wife Pat and I – along with Noel Corry and his wife Dinah, and Ken MacKenzie and his wife Margaret – attended a service of thanksgiving and commemoration of the ceasing of wartime operations by the RAFVR in Northern Ireland in St Anne’s Cathedral, Belfast. Also on that day the Lord Mayor, the Right Honourable Hugh Smyth, and members of the Belfast City Council invited us to a VE Day dinner in the Belfast City Hall to mark the RAF contribution to victory in Europe.


Commemoration and remembrance


In June 1995 members of the armed forces and RAFVR attended a parade in Belfast to commemorate VE Day. The parade started off from the ‘Black Man’ statue – depicting Dr Henry Cooke (1788–1868) – that stands just in front of Inst, Noel’s old school. Noel’s close friend Wing Commander Ken MacKenzie – with whom he had joined the RAFVR in 1939 – was beside him. Ken had been a pupil at Methody, and there was – and still is – a bit of friendly rivalry between the two schools. I noticed Noel ushering Ken over to the wall outside Inst, where he whispered to me to take a photograph of the intrepid pair with Inst in the background. Ken knew exactly what was going on and pretended to spit on the pavement. We had a good laugh. I still have the photograph.


The parade left the Black Man, and the veterans marched down Wellington Place, past City Hall and up Royal Avenue to the cheering of thousands of well-wishers. It proceeded to St Anne’s Cathedral, where a service of remembrance was held.


There was another service of remembrance to mark the fiftieth anniversary of the end of World War II on 20 August 1995 in St Anne’s Cathedral. On 26 June 2000 Noel, Ken and Harry Clarke attended a remembrance service for the RAFVR at Belfast International Airport. Members of the Aircrew Association and Royal Air Forces Association also attended.


Noel often spoke of his close friends who had joined the RAFVR in Belfast with him before the war, and especially those who had been killed – including Johnny McAdam (who is buried close to Noel in Ballyharry Cemetery in Islandmagee) and Sidney Ireland (who was killed on 12 July 1940). It was very important to him that his friends should not be forgotten. As there was no memorial dedicated to the Ulster contingent of the RAFVR, I decided that it was time there was. In January 1996 I contacted the survivors of the RAFVR, including Noel Corry, Ken MacKenzie, Tom Long, Jimmy Agnew, Bert Smith, George Calwell and Jack Simpson. We all met at the Knock Golf Club – except for Jack Simpson, who could not make it – and decided what form the memorial would take. It was to be a copper plaque on which would be engraved these words:






THIS MEMORIAL WAS DEDICATED ON 17th MARCH 1996 TO COMMEMORATE THE DEVOTION TO DUTY AND SELF SACRIFICE OF THE ULSTERMEN WHO SERVED IN THE ROYAL AIR FORCE VOLUNTEER RESERVE BEFORE THE OUTBREAK OF THE 2nd WORLD WAR AND ALL THOSE WHO FOLLOWED THEM INTO THE ROYAL AIR FORCE AFTER THE OUTBREAK OF WAR.


“WE SHALL REMEMBER THEIR SACRIFICE.”


“WILL THOSE WHO FOLLOW REALISE


HOW GREAT WAS THE COST?”






I contacted the Dean of St Anne’s Cathedral and asked if a service of remembrance could be held in memory of the RAFVR and if the plaque could be mounted on the wall of the cathedral. Unfortunately the Cathedral Committee refused, stating that there were too many memorials on the walls. I was disappointed, but not to be thwarted, I contacted the then CO of RAF Aldergrove, Group Captain Brian Freeman, an Australian and a gentleman. He suggested that we hold the service in the station church, St Luke’s. On 17 March 1996 the memorial service was held and the plaque unveiled. In attendance were representatives from the RAF, the Army Air Corps, the Royal Air Forces Association and the Aircrew Association. At the end of the service, Nos 72 and 230 Squadrons staged a fly-past in honour of the occasion. Each one of the survivors received his own copy of the memorial.


The following poem was written by Noel Corry in memory of his RAFVR friends who were killed during World War II:






Young men, little more than school boys,


Jousting with the Luftwaffe in the sky


To determine whose turn it is to die today.


If it’s mine, I’ll not have seen the wily one


That came at me from out of the sun


And set my world alight.


And then, how shall I fare?


I trust that you, so very far below,


Will never get to know the way of it.






In 2001 Noel invited me to go to Lincoln to attend the Nos 12 and 626 Squadrons’ twenty-second annual reunion dinner on 8 September and a memorial service at Wickenby airfield the next day. It was a long journey, but we arrived safe and Noel, Dinah and I settled down to the reunion dinner with the other attendees. The next day we were all bused out to Wickenby, where Noel had served with No. 12 Squadron in 1944. The service was held at the Icarus memorial. The inscription on the memorial reads:






ROYAL AIR FORCE


WICKENBY


NO 1 GROUP BOMBER COMMAND


1942–1945


IN MEMORY OF


ONE THOUSAND AND EIGHTY MEN


OF 12 & 626 SQUADRONS


WHO GAVE THEIR LIVES ON


OPERATIONS FROM THIS AIRFIELD


IN THE OFFENSIVE AGAINST GERMANY


AND THE LIBERATION


OF OCCUPIED EUROPE


Per ardua ad astra






Following the service, there was a superb fly-past by the Battle of Britain Lancaster.


In 2003 Noel was keen to attend the Battle of Britain Memorial Day, which was to be held at Capel-le-Ferne, Dover, on 12/13 July. He was not able to undertake the long drive to the south of England, so I volunteered. We arrived in Folkestone on 12 July. While Noel had a rest in the hotel, I found a number of Battle of Britain pilots and their wives and partners in the bar, including Ken MacKenzie and his wife. They all made me very welcome and it was a great honour for me to be among them. After dinner, I was very moved when one of Battle of Britain pilots said, ‘I just want to say that we have a very charming guest from Northern Ireland, who came in earlier and introduced himself to us all. I consider that being very polite and courteous’ and everyone clapped. The next day I drove Noel to Capel-le-Ferne, where we were ushered to the VIP marquee and seated right at the front. Shortly afterwards, HRH Prince Michael of Kent arrived. During the service Noel laid a wreath in memory of his friends. The dedication on it read:






In memory of my good pals, pilots all:






‘Sid’ Ireland


‘Herbie’ MeGarry


‘Vic’ Skillen


‘Johnny’ McAdam


Such a loss; all that laughter stifled when they died;


and so soon.


‘Paddy’ Corry


13th July 2003






Just as the last wreath was being laid, the Battle of Britain Memorial Flight Spitfire and Hurricane gave us a fly-past to remember. It was a very solemn and moving occasion, and I felt honoured to have been part of it all – two days I shall remember all my life.


As we were leaving the event, a voice from behind said, ‘Excuse me, sir, but are you Squadron Leader Noel Corry?’


Noel looked round and said, ‘Yes, I am Noel Corry.’


The gentleman continued, ‘Well, sir, you might not remember me. I am Sergeant Berwick, your wireless operator, air gunner when you and I were in No. 25 Squadron during the Battle of Britain.’


Well, you could have heard a pin drop. Noel said, ‘I don’t believe it.’


The intrepid pair shook hands and hugged each other. It was almost sixty-three years since they had met. Sergeant Berwick and Noel kept in touch with each other right up until Noel died.


Squadron Leader Noel Henry Corry, DFC, AE, died on 27 March 2006 and is buried in Ballyharry Cemetery just outside Islandmagee. Not far from Noel in the same cemetery is his close friend Sergeant Johnny McAdam. I miss Noel very much, especially his humour, his wit and, most of all, his kindness. He was a true gentleman in every sense of the word. In all the years I knew him, I never heard him say a cross word about anyone.


He was undoubtedly one of ‘The Few’.
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